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10:25 a.m.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Good morning, folks.  Welcome back.  My apologies for the delay getting started here.  We are going to, first off, talk to Dr. John Molnar.  If you will, come on up and accept the oath by Ms. DeCillis.  Welcome back.  We missed you last week.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman?

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Yes, sir?

MR. COUICK:  If I could, while Dr. Molnar is coming up, make a couple of notes, just for those purposes of those people that are present, for information.

We've scheduled to screen Dr. Molnar first thing this morning.  He made himself available and scheduled time.  And then we have Mr. DuBose after that.  In discussions with the Governor's Office, particularly Mr. Blackstone, they've acknowledged they would like Mr. Thompson to have an opportunity to review the transcript of these hearings prior to his being screened.  Anticipating those transcripts will not be ready and his having time to review them before this Thursday, they are willing and, actually, encouraging this subcommittee to screen him after this session ends.  He can still serve in an interim capacity, if he was found qualified by this committee.  I wanted to give that to the committee to see if that was acceptable to proceed along those lines.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  I don't think there would be any objection.  And, Senator Mescher, this harkens back to your --

SENATOR MESCHER:  Is this Mr. Thompson?  I'm going to have to recuse myself from that.  He made a contribution to me.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Use your mike there, if you will.  We won't take him up today, is the point that we're --

SENATOR MESCHER:  Well, I have no problem with this.  But if he does come before this committee, I would have to recuse myself.  He has made contributions to my campaign.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  I wanted to say this.  It harkens back to your statements following Mr. Falk's testimony, I think the first day, and perhaps Mr. Gilreath, that all Board members should, prospective Board members should have to actually read this transcript.

Dr. Molnar, you've been here.  I don't know -- not throughout the entire hearings, but I trust you will, before this is over, read the transcript, as well.  But I want to commend the Governor's Office for holding Mr. Thompson back to let him study what we've got before us here.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, the other issue is, I have placed before each of you a chart that takes five seats or five people that are currently either serving or have been designated to serve by the Governor on the Santee Cooper Board.  Dr. Molnar, Mr. Patrick Allen whose term expired on May 19th, 2005, Mr. DuBose whose term expired I believe that same date, and Mr. Thompson who's been designated to be the chairman.

What you'll see there is the type of appointment, whether it was received during the session as a session appointment, and this under the fourth column, or if it was an interim appointment.  We've designated that there.  We designate the status if they're not confirmed prior to June 2nd , 2005.

For example, under Dr. Molnar, if his appointment as a session appointment would fail at that point, the seat would become vacant, but he would be eligible under the next column to be named as an interim and that interim status would last until the end of the next regular legislative session.  But he could not participate and serve on the Board until he was found qualified by this subcommittee, whether that be before or after June 2nd, 2005 would not matter.  That's under the new bill, Santee Cooper bill, that he would be able to go ahead and serve.

Mr. Allen serves as the designee of the South Carolina electric cooperatives in the one seat that existed prior to 573.  He would, if you go all the way out to the end, he can continue to participate and serve if he serves in a holdover capacity.  The same thing with Mr. Dubose.  It's our feeling, as your attorneys, that he can serve in an interim, be re-appointed in an capacity.  But, really, he would holdover in status indefinitely until the Governor named a successor who was found qualified.

SENATOR MARTIN:  Mike, that ought to be the Third Congressional District rather the First.

MR. COUICK:  I apologize.  Yes, sir, you're sure right.  The Third on that one.  And then Oscar L. Thompson as chairman.  We received his appointment on May 23rd, a session appointment.  Presuming for a moment that appointment fails, that seat would become vacant.  He could be named as an interim, an interim chair.  His interim status would last until the end of the next session, 2006.  He could not participate and serve as chairman until found qualified, which was the same issue with Dr. Molnar.  I've discussed this chart, he's not seen it but I've discussed the findings of this chart with Mr. Blackstone.  He's discussed that with Mr. White. I think the Governor's Office is in agreement with this assessment.  The point being, I don't think things come to a standstill as it relates to the chairman's position and perhaps others, depending on what this committee does by the end of this week.  There are ways to move forward without being finished.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Currently, who is acting as chair?

MR. COUICK:  My belief is, Mr. DuBose is acting as first vice-chairman.  I took that Mr. Green's resignation was effective immediately because I believe that's the way Santee Cooper has treated it.  As first vice-chairman, he is not chairman but he is first vice-chairman or occupying those responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Have y'all had a meeting, Mr. DuBose, where you have presided as chairman, or in the role as chair?

MR. DUBOSE:  No, sir.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  When was your last meeting?

MR. DUBOSE:  The week before last.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  And who chaired that meeting?

MR. DUBOSE:  Guerry Green.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  And have y'all got another meeting scheduled?  

MR. DUBOSE:  I think it's --

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Or has one been called by anybody?

MR. DUBOSE:  No.  The next regularly scheduled meeting is the 28th.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  The 28th of June?

MR. DUBOSE:  Yes, sir.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  All right.

MR. COUICK:  And they have a second vice-chairman, as well.

MR. DUBOSE:  It's the 27th.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  The 27th of June.  Who is the second vice-chair?

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Allen.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Pat Allen?  Okay.

MR. COUICK:  It's my understanding the Board can also elect officers. If for any reason there's a vacancy, under their bylaws, they're able to, not chairman but for other officers, they are empowered by their bylaws to provide substitutes, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  Very well.  Anything else from --

MR. COUICK:  No, sir.  I just wanted to make sure you were aware of this.  And Senator McConnell is aware of the issue with Mr. Thompson about wanting to read the transcript and, I believe, agrees with the assessment

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  So that, and I want to underscore the point you just made that, since Santee Cooper doesn't stop, that their meetings can go forward and action can be taken and business can be conducted without, again, at the request of the Governor's Office, Mr. Thompson being screened prior to the end of this session.

MR. COUICK:  You do have two vacancies right now.  You have the, what I'll call the Falk/Green vacancy from Georgetown, and then you have the vacancy created last week in the Fourth Congressional District.  So those are, I assume, will be ones, from talking to Mr. Blackstone at the Governor's Office, we’ll be handling very soon, as well.  And they can similarly make interim appointments in this committee, or the Public Utility Review Committee, depending upon the date of appointment.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  As of today, we don't have a name submitted for the Georgetown seat?

MR. COUICK:  Nor for the Fourth District, yes, sir.

SENATOR MARTIN:  Let me ask a question. The appointment of Mr. DuBose, is it under the old law or under the new law?

MR. COUICK:  It's under the new law to the extent he's not been confirmed.  The effective date of the bill said those appointments, they had not been confirmed prior to the effective date, which was last Thursday, I believe, were subject to the qualifications standards of the law.

Now, my interpretation is that Mr. Dubose and Mr. Allen are in a unique status, in that they are carryovers under the law.  I do not believe he loses his status and ability to continue to serve on the Board and participate.  I don't think we --

SENATOR MARTIN:  Even if we don't get the confirmation --

MR. COUICK:  I think he and Mr. Allen are in a very unique circumstance because they are in an incumbent's position.  And the law specifically provides under 58-31-20, I believe it is, that they continue until their successor is appointed and qualified.  So I believe that just those two have a unique situation.

SENATOR MARTIN:  I got you.

SENATOR HUTTO:  Mr. Chairman?

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Yes, sir?

SENATOR HUTTO:  If the Board, eleven-member Board, would have a full complement, were to take a vote today, how many people would be able to vote?

MR. COUICK:  Well, Dr. Molnar has not served to-date because he's not been confirmed.  Mr. DuBose would be there.  You would have no one there for the Fourth Congressional seat and for the chairman and for the Georgetown seat.  So it would be eight.

Their bylaws require a quorum to be a majority of those that are currently serving, is my recollection.  It's not tied to the eleven.  So it is a floating number.  And this is all based upon discussions with their general counsel, but there's a floating number that exists.

SENATOR. HUTTO:  So their ability to move forward and carry on business is not comprised by this?

MR. COUICK:  No, sir.  They are able to continue.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Any other questions?  Let me welcome Dr. Molnar.  You are no stranger to these parts.  You've been in at least two meetings, I believe?

DR. MOLNAR:  That's correct.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And sat and listened and written copious notes, I think they call that. Are you trying to become a court reporter, practicing stenography over there?

DR. MOLNAR:  No.  I think I'm just a nerd.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  All right.  Go ahead, Ms. DeCillis, and if you'll administer the oath.

JOHN T. MOLNAR, M.D., being duly sworn, testified as follows:

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Let me welcome you here.  I've spoken to you many times without microphones in front of us or without your being under oath.  Let me welcome you because it's no secret that you're a very close friend of the Governor's.  You have supported him in his run as a Congressman, I believe, and certainly as a Governor.  And I believe you stay at the mansion and he stays at your mansion when he's in Myrtle Beach.

DR. MOLNAR:  Well, that's happened on a couple of times.  I wouldn't say it's a routine practice, but it has occurred, yes.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  They are better places to stay than the Whitney, I can assure you, or the Holiday Inn in Myrtle Beach.  But I want to welcome you today and ask that you field questions from the committee members, field questions from Mr. Couick here and Ms. Coombs, if it were deemed necessary, but welcome you again to the Santee Cooper subcommittee and look forward to your testimony today.

DR. MOLNAR:  Thank you.

MR. COUICK:  And you have the tremendous added advantage of being a constituent of the chairman of the subcommittee, Mr. Molnar.  It helps.

Mr. Chairman, if I could, at this point, I'd like to introduce into the record of today's proceedings, a memo that went to Dr. Molnar and others on May 13th, 2005, giving them an update as to issues for the upcoming screening.  Do you remember that memo, Dr. Molnar?

DR. MOLNAR:  I can't see it from here, but I'm assuming it's the one with the questions?

MR. COUICK:  Yes, sir.  With the issues.

DR. MOLNAR:  Yes.  I do remember it, yes.

MR. COUICK:  If we could put that in the record, just for the purpose of giving an indication of his preparation.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.     Dr. Molnar, you are not a native of South Carolina?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Where did you grow up?

A.     I grew up in Ohio.

Q.     And you went to school there, I believe, well; isn't that correct?

A.     Yes, I did.

Q.     Could you run through the first 25 years of your life for this committee, in terms of where you grew up, the type of family you came from, how you made your way to medical school, that sort of thing?

A.     I grew up in Youngstown, Ohio, I was born there.  My dad is a civil engineer, so I was always -- in my family, there was a bias in the direction of steering towards the sciences and things like that.  So I think that that, you know, a strong interest in math, a strong interest in science, those types of things.

It wasn't specifically -- I did well in high school, but not great.  But I got to college and realized that, you know, now my parents were actually paying for this, so I needed to kick into gear, and did very well in college.

Q.     You did great.  You couldn't do much better than summa cum laude; is that right?

A.     Not too much better, yeah.  But I did well there.  I majored in chemistry.  While I was in college, I worked in a testing laboratory, grew up in, you know, in a steel town.  Youngstown, Ohio is a steel town.  Or, at least, was then in a pretty big way.  I worked in a lab where we tested for, you know, tested slag, tested limestone, gone into some -- had done some testing with sulphur dioxide.  Since I was majoring in chemistry, they put me on some different projects.

My senior year there, during that summer, I set up a wastewater treatment program for hexavalent chromium out of one of the local aluminum plants.  So I had some experience in a small way in that regard.

About halfway through my chemistry major, I realized that I was majoring in chemistry, and largely because I really liked the people in the chemistry department, but couldn't really see myself long term being a chemist and started to look for other things, and medical school became a logical option that I elected to pursue.

Let's see.  I'm trying to think 25 years worth.

Q.     You graduated from Ohio Wesleyan in 1980; is that right?

A.     That's correct.  I had won chemistry faculty prize and the undergraduate award in analytical chemistry.  I graduated from Ohio Wesleyan with honors, such as stated and -- 

Q.     And then the University of Cincinnati College of Medicine; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Where did you do your residency?

A.     I did my residency at the Center for Emergency Care at the University of Cincinnati.

Q.     So you knew early on that was going to be your calling in terms of trauma care/emergency care?

A.     Probably several years into medical school.  But they had a really excellent department there, that was where I gravitated.

Q.     And you've served in a variety of capacities, I believe, in Kentucky and Ohio in emergency departments until you came to South Carolina in 1988; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Tell us, when you came to South Carolina, how did you come to pick South Carolina?

A.     I actually had a friend that had moved here the year before from Cincinnati.  The University of Cincinnati's residency program was highly competitive at that point in time.  They'd pick about eight applicants for the eight spots that went in.  This guy was the top one of those eight his year.  He had come to Myrtle Beach and said this is a really good opportunity.  Cincinnati, being the oldest emergency medicine residency program in the United States, was pretty much saturated with good emergency physicians at that point in time, so it was more of a ground floor situation.

I'd always loved the coast and our family had always vacationed there, and I thought if I was ever going to take a chance before we had any children or anything, that was the time to go.  So in 1988, we moved to Myrtle Beach.

Q.     And, at the time, you worked, I believe, concurrently at the Mullins Hospital starting in 1988, and also there at the Grand Strand Regional Medical Center; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.  They had their contract, at that time, for one year.  And so I helped them staff at Mullins for that year, and then -- but the primary focus was at Grand Strand.  It was more part time at Mullins.

Q.     And there was a relationship with the Marion Medical Center that was about 2000 to present; is that correct?

A.     We have, our group grew, was one of the founding five members, and we've grown into a multi-specialty group that now has over, well over fifty doctors, closer to sixty.  And we now have the contract at Marion Medical Center to staff their emergency department.

Q.     In looking at your vitae, I note that about 1999, your relationship changes with Grand Strand Regional Medical Center.  Is that just because of the organization of the group and how you approach your services there is through contract; you're no longer an employee, or what's the difference there?

A.     No.  I'm still -- the group still has a contract of supplying emergency medical services to that facility.  What changed in 1999 was that I became the medical director of the hospital.  Previous to that, it was Ken DeHart followed by Jim Hunter.  I took over as the medical director in 1999 and my duties became, went from -- shifted from virtually 100 percent clinical, other than my duties on the Board of Directors there, to, at the time -- at the time, it was supposed to be 50 percent clinical and 50 percent administrative.  It ultimately seemed to be 100 percent administrative and 50 percent clinical.  So, ultimately, they gave me a little bit more administrative time.

Q.     I understand.  You have for the past five years or, excuse me.  From 1997 to 2002 and then again from 2004 to present, served as a member of the Board of Directors of the South Carolina MedPac.  Could you describe what that is?

A.     That is an organization that's the, I guess you could call it the political arm of the South Carolina Medical Association.

Q.     And what is the role the Board of Directors there as it relates to the granting of contributions to members of the General Assembly and others in politics?  

A.     The members are to look at issues related to medicine and try to make decisions on allocation of available funds for candidates in, you know, in upcoming elections that, you know, think along the same lines as the Medical Association.

Q.     If you were to be confirmed -- your time obviously is very precious, anyway -- would you think that you would continue in this role?  Would there be any reason other than time commitments to not continue in that role with S.C. Medpac if you were confirmed to serve on Santee Cooper?

A.     I don't know.  I'd want to -- I guess, I'd want to check and make sure that there's no conflicts. I'm not aware of any as we speak.  The time commitment could be the bigger issue.  I've got other things that I could give up, as well, and one thing that I'll have to give up that's been a significant time commitment as of late.  So I don't know the answer to that yet.

Q.     And, I take, the other thing that you'll have to give up that you say is a significant time commitment is that you would be a dual office holder if you did not give that up; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     And what is that position?

A.     It's the Research Center for Economic Excellence Review Board.

Q.     And so you would agree that if you were confirmed in this position, you would give that up?

A.     Yes.  I would give that up.

Q.     You have a daughter, I believe.  Is she ten still or -- 

A.     She's ten, but she'll be eleven in October.

Q.     You have been an active supporter of a number of members of the Senate and Governor Sanford. As I did with Mr. DuBose the other day, I don't want you to think you're the first person to have this done to, Dr. Molnar, but is to read into the record contributions.

It's my understanding that in 2004, you contributed $2100 to Governor Sanford, that you also contributed amounts of money to four Senators, four currently serving Senators, $500 for Senator Campson, $1,000 to Senator Williams, $500 for Senator Cleary, $500 to Senator Verdin.  In 2002, you, personally, contributed $2,375 to Governor Sanford.  Your wife, I believe -- is it Christine L. Molnar?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Contributed $1,125 to Governor Sanford.  It appears that you gave in 1998, $750 to then Congressman Sanford in a congressional race; is that correct?

A.     I'm sure it probably is.  I don't have -- I don't know the exact numbers, but that sounds about right.

Q.     It appears that in the 2000 Governor's race, they have a 2002.  I believe we've already covered that.  The chairman, when he opened up today, talked about your friendship with the Governor, and that has been a source of some comment, at least, privately, if not in the media.

How did you come to know the Governor? What type of friendship do you have in terms of social versus business or whatever?  Tell us a little bit about that.

A.     It started out, I guess -- I don't know whether it was 1993 -- it was during a congressional campaign.  I think, I was -- there was a sign that intrigued me that talked about balancing the budget and term limits and whatnot.  And while I didn't -- there were two out of three things I didn't like totally agree with, but it just kind of intrigued me because it was -- and so I called him up on the telephone.

And I think what captured me was, he started talking about, you know, making things better for our children and just kind of got me with that.  And I asked what I could do to help him.  And so that's -- I mean, that was basically how it started. Over the time, we got along well.  Various -- we met at various different political functions and things like that.  Occasionally, as Senator Rankin pointed out, there's been a couple of occasions where we were fortunate enough to have him spend the night at the home, just sometimes on a spur of the minute thing where I didn't, you know -- you know, it would just be kind of a last minute thing.  And I have, as Senator Rankin stated, stayed at the mansion on two occasions.

Q.     Your friendship, I take, has lasted, though, for this period of time from 1993 to 2005, has grown but has lasted.  How did you come to express an interest in serving on Santee Cooper, or did he bring the idea to you?  How did it first come up, Dr. Molnar?

A.     He actually brought the idea to me.  And it was, I had always said, you know, that I would be willing to help in any way that I could with regard to the state.  But I was on that Research Center's Board and was happy with that.  I got a call, I believe it was in the early spring or late winter, I don't recall exactly when, from the Governor, asking if I would be interested in serving on the Santee Cooper Board.

I've, you know, always had an interest in Santee Cooper.  I think, more so going back, you know, other than just being a rate payer myself, probably spawned by all of the history and things that the fishing guides told me at Lake Marion when we'd go there, you know, over the past six years.  And I knew that they were involved in many economic development projects within the area and everything.  I thought -- and so I was interested.  But I really wasn't certain at that point in time and I had asked him if I could take some time and speak with some local people that I trusted, some business leaders and things like that, and see whether or not that they thought it was a reasonable fit.

It was actually Don Leonard, who is a good friend of mine that I serve with on the Board of Trustees at Grand Strand Regional Medical Center that ultimately talked me into it.  He said -- I said, well, see if you can, you know, think of some people and see whether or not you'd think I'd be a fit for this.  You know what my qualifications are.

Don called me back the next day and he said that he had thought long and hard about it and he thought that I would be the best choice.  So I was really going probably more based on what Don said and a few other people around the area than my own thoughts at that point in time, because I just wasn't really sure whether it was a fit or not.

Q.     And I'd like to be very frank in the questioning.  When you look at your vitae and your application, you seem to be the ideal candidate for DHEC and perhaps a fit for Santee Cooper, but an unusual fit.  

Having sat here for two days a week or so ago and seeing what has developed to be somewhat of a controversy about the future of Santee Cooper, do you still fit?  Do you fit more now than ever?  What do you foresee yourself contributing?  If you're confirmed to serve at Santee Cooper, what would your role be?

A.     Well, I think, I still fit.  I don't think the controversy, and it might be now more than ever, just from the standpoint of, I do, I think, on Boards and things like that, different committees that I've been on, tend to be more of a, like a peacemaker, for lack of a better term.

I think that there is a fit there from the standpoint of, I believe Mr. Allen is an engineer, which is obviously critically valuable, you know, on a Board like that.  I think I bring some additional technical, at least the ability to understand the technical aspects of it, you know, if applying myself the way I would in that regard.

I think that unlike the average emergency physician, I have considerable more business experience in, you know, in growing our company from five physicians to close to sixty, starting an outpatient testing lab, contributing to the starting of that, which does about 300,000 tests a year.  You know, our billing, we probably do close to 400,000 claims.

I also served on the Board of Trustees of a company called Market Max that was started.  My sister was one of the founders of that company.  I kind of came in, really, to help her out, I think, in about 1995, maybe 1996.  That company started out as about -- it was about a million dollars and they lost about $200,000 that year and within a couple of years, grew to five million with significant revenues.  Venture Capitalists came in and we had to start functioning more like a, you know, like the Board of a bigger company from the standpoint of, they were looking at the possibility of IPOs and buyouts.

I was fortunate on that Board to serve with a gentleman by the name of Frank O'Connell who was the former CEO of Reebok, Bernard Brannon who was the former CEO of the National Retail Federation, Leo Obethaker who was President of SAP for Europe which is the largest enterprise resource planning software company in the world.  I learned a lot, how those guys functioned on Boards.

I think that given the information that I gleaned from the last hearing, I go in with an advantage probably that other Board members didn't have, as far as, you know, reading the entire code for the Freedom of Information Act and the standards.  And, you know, having the benefit of seeing all of that, I think is very helpful.  I think there are things about that code that probably a lot of people that serve on state Boards and committees need to know.

I mean, there's, for instance, you know, with regard to a majority of subcommittee, you know, there's a lot of subcommittees made up of three, you know, three people, so it means that if one is talking to the other, technically, you could potentially be in violation of that.  So I think that in answer to the question, I'm probably more prepared.

Q.     When you sat through the hearings for those couple of days and you took the notes and you had a chance to go home and think about them, what were the challenges, that you said, this really is the core challenge that Santee Cooper is facing as a, not as a business plan, but as a Board, what did you think the challenges were?

A.     One of the biggest challenges I think, to some extent, has been remedied by the new legislation.  Because, clearly, there was a difference between, you know, as far as I think the old legislation was slightly unclear with regard to what were your loyalties as a Board member, the new legislation makes that crystal clear.  I mean, so I think that that takes away some of the ambiguity.

I can't recall, as I sit here somewhat nervous, the specific paragraph in the previous legislation.  But it was amended to, you know, where it was -- it seemed like the loyalties could have been interpreted under the old legislation as loyalties to the State, but it's more specifically, and that was where, you know, there was some ambiguity there, and now it's clearly to the company.

Q.     As a big picture matter, what other challenges are there?  I'll come back to that one, but what other major challenges does the Board, not again as a business plan necessarily, but as a Board, as an organic body, what challenges need to be addressed there?

A.     I think the biggest challenge, and it'll certainly be a challenge for the new chairman, is getting the Board back as a unit, getting the Board members to come to consensus and act, you know, as a unit for the good of the company, and to try to get everybody on the same page.  I think that's probably the biggest issue.

Q.     Anything else that you think is a challenge, that you've identified, that you see coming up for the Board itself?

A.     I'm sure -- I'm sure I'll probably think about five things as soon we --

Q.     Okay.  That's fine.  And you're really welcome to -- 

A.     I'm really good at walking out of the room and then thinking what I should have said.

Q.     If you remember it during the course of this conversation, just give them back to me, too.

Going back to, you used the words crystal clear in terms of what your duty of loyalty is and you said there was some lack of clarity to the previous legislation.  What is your duty now?  Who is it to?

A.     Well, it's to Santee Cooper, to the customers, to the ratepayers, I think, making sure to continue to provide electricity at reasonable rates.  It's to economic development for customers, both in the retail area and in the area of the, you know, wholesales.

Q.     What is your understanding of the consequences of departing from that duty of loyalty under the new law, Dr. Molnar?  What could happen to Dr. Molnar if he departs from that duty of loyalty under the new law?

A.     The way I understand it is that any of the customers within the state, whether they be residential or whether they be wholesale customers within the co-ops, would have the right to bring litigation against the individual Board members.

Q.     Do you also understand that the Governor could remove you for failure to adhere to that standard of protecting the best interests of Santee Cooper?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Do you think that under the law, is it your interpretation that the standard you're held to by the Governor and the customer is essentially the same in terms of that best interest standard?  Their remedy may be a little bit different, but is what they're holding you to really the same standard?

A.     My understanding is that it's the same standard.

Q.     Are you aware, Dr. Molnar, that Santee Cooper carries directors' and officers' liability insurance that more or less protects you from your individual liability?

A.     That is what I've been told.

Q.     Okay.

A.     I've not had any -- 

Q.     And I realize that's a gross simplification.  There may be instances where you would commit certain acts that wouldn't be covered.  But for most cases, it would be.

How about a duty of care?  You mentioned a duty of loyalty and that being to the corporation.  You've sat through meetings and you've heard about -- I believe with Mr. Gilreath.  You were here for his testimony early on.

A.     Yes.

Q.     He talked about duty of loyalty, duty of care.  What do you take away with duty of care as a director?

A.     Well, I think duty of care starts probably with doing your homework; getting ready for meetings, understanding the issues that you need to understand before you come in to a meeting so that you can have an intelligent discussion.  It means asking the appropriate questions, it means participating in, you know, the selection of a CEO and senior management where it's deemed appropriate.  And providing direction, in particular on policies and things like that, to senior management.

Q.     That duty of care would obviously go a long way toward avoiding situations like Enron happening in South Carolina.  You may have been here the days we talked about, you've got this continuum of Enron happening versus this ultimate micro-management by the Board that ends up in a catastrophe, as well.

How are you, personally, going to make that decision of where the line is, in terms of trying to be fully involved so as to satisfy your duty of care versus micro-management?  How do you approach meetings, how do you approach your involvement with the company's business?  Give some practical advice to us and to yourself about how you would approach that.

A.     Well, I think, once -- right now with Mr. DuBose as the acting chairman, I mean, questions I should be, you know, most of the communications should go through him.  When we have a new chairman, communications should go through that chairman.  If I'm going to communicate individually with a member of management, I probably ought to be talking to the CEO, Carter, and probably not to anybody else without at least letting him know that, you know, I'm going in that direction.

I've done that already in trying to do some of the homework and spoken with him and asked him, you know, who are people that it was appropriate that I talk to, to try to educate myself.

Can you restate the question?

Q.     Let me give you a specific example.  You mentioned earlier that a lot of your work when you were in college dealt with water quality.

A.     Uh-huh.

Q.     If you thought that Santee Cooper was not doing a responsible, effective job of protecting the quality of its lake system and you thought that management had botched it, they were incompetent, what could you do, what should you do as a member of the Board of Directors on that issue?

A.     I would, you know, bring that up probably with the Board chairman and also with the -- and have him address it with the CEO of the company and it could be brought up in a Board meeting, asking them to bring forth, you know, what their plans were, what their objectives were, letting them demonstrate the data in a meeting and go from there to decide, you know, at a Board level whether or not there should be a change in policy or not.

Q.     Would it be appropriate for you to go directly to that person in management that handled that area and criticize their methodology, absent doing what you talked about first?

A.     That would be inappropriate.

Q.     There was some conversation, testimony, whatever, that perhaps there may be occasions where the Board has received advice from a general counsel and perhaps conflicting or differing advice from a Board member who may be an attorney.  How would you approach those situations if you found that the advice you received from someone like Jim Brogdon was different than what you were hearing from a Board member that was an attorney?  What would you do as an individual Board member?

A.     As an individual Board member, I think, you know, I would have to rely on the general counsel of the company.  But to the extent that there was a conflict, you know, I think that that should be brought out and ask the general counsel to address those issues and make sure that we were on the right track.  Because you, I mean, you don't want to just go anywhere blindly.

Q.     But if you were dissatisfied with his explanation, let's assume Jim Brogdon describes it but you're not satisfied that he is either on top of the issue or perhaps he has a conflict in describing what the law states, what should you or the Board as a whole do at that point?  Should you go the direction of your individual Board member who's an attorney, or what should you do?

A.     I think we should probably go the direction of hiring outside counsel to give direction in that regard, somebody that was unbiased.

Q.     And who would that person report to, Dr. Molnar, the outside counsel?  Who should they report to?

A.     To the Board of Trustees.

Q.     Okay.  Through its chairman?

A.     The chairman.

Q.     Okay.  You've mentioned one of your challenges was getting the Board to act as a unit for the good of the company.  I hope I've stated that correctly.  That was one of the challenges you identified, so --

A.     In the context of what I heard last week.

Q.     Right.  What could you individually do? As opposed to being chairman, what could you individually do to help that along?

A.     I think that, you know, it's always helpful to try to understand, you know, both sides. You have people on different sides of an issue, try to come to, you know, some type of meaningful, reasonable compromise if that type of thing exists.  To the extent that it's, you know, it's one side may be in violation of a statute, in particular the new statute, the, you know, ability to compromise tends to go away.

Q.     Would it ever be appropriate for you to be a -- I want to use these words advisedly -- "a thought policeman", where you would say, that's just not appropriate to talk about or that's not what the Governor would want us to do or that's not why we were appointed to be here.

What's your role, vis-a-vis, other Board members?  Is it superior to, the same as, less than, as it relates to differences of opinion, perhaps, as to what the Board's authority is, the Board's mission, that sort of thing?

A.     I would hope that once I come up to speed and, obviously, despite all of the homework I've done, I don't expect to walk into the first meeting and have the same level of expertise as people that have sat on the Board for many years.  And, in particular, somebody that's, you know, worked in the public utility industry.  But once I come up to speed, I would hope that I would be on the same level as other Board members and subordinate to the chairman.

Q.     Would it be ever appropriate to tell them that a matter was inappropriate because politically, it was not the right thing to do?  It was not politically of benefit to the Governor or --

A.     No.  I don't think that's appropriate at all.

Q.     And why is that not the case?  Particularly after 573 is enacted?

A.     Well, I don't even think before 573 that that was the case.  I mean, even before 573.  I mean, you know, there might have been a conflict and differences of opinion in whether or not you were looking after the best interest of the state or the best interest of the company, but I don't think we were ever looking at the best interest of any particular politician.

Q.     And I don't want to suggest that, but I guess I'm trying to get to the duty of loyalty, you said it was crystal clear.  To the extent there was any discussion about anything being to the benefit of any entity or individual other than Santee Cooper, do you believe it's crystal clear that your first loyalty has got to go to Santee Cooper in the definition of best interest in 573?

A.     In the best interest of 573, yes.

Q.     You mentioned a moment ago that you had some experience with Market Max.  I believe it was a company that your sister founded.  Where was that located?

A.     It was in Massachusetts.

Q.     Tell us again what type of business it was, Dr. Molnar?

A.     It was retail information software.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I'd like to refer you to Dr. Molnar's PDQ on page -- it's like three pages or four pages from the very end.  There's an addendum to Senate confirmation question 21.

Q.     Do you have a copy in front of you, Dr. Molnar?  If not, we'll be glad to provide one.  I think Kip is going to bring you one down.  It's your addendum to the confidential personal data questionnaire that was filed with the Governor's Office and it was filed with us.

The last page I have is your list of letters of reference, and then two pages before that is your addendum to question 21, about have you ever been sued personally or professionally and, if so, give details?

A.     Yes.

Q.     And then you answer under A, a matter that's related to your professional practice and then under item B, you say, "To the best of my recollection, in approximately 1996, I became a shareholder and the director of Market Max, Inc., in which my sister was an officer and shareholder.  When the former president left the company over a salary dispute and went to work for a direct competitor, the company sued him for, among other things, a violation of his non-compete and his confidentiality agreements.  I was named in, as one of the defendants, in a countersuit filed by the former president.  The case was settled by the company and dismissed in 1998.

My question goes just as to the allegations that were directed toward you.  Do you recollect what those allegations were and in what capacity were they directed to you, Dr. Molnar?

A.     I don't recall the specific allegations. It had to do with, the matter was one of, this gentleman -- and I'm not sure specifically what I'm allowed to, you know, give as far as specific details in an open session.  Perhaps, you know --

Q.     Is this under a sealed --

A.     Yes.

Q.     Okay.  Okay.

A.     So I'd be happy to discuss it with the Senators privately.

Q.     All right.  We'll be glad to follow back up with that.  I don't want to ask you to breach any contractual agreement that you've reached with it.  And what I take that you're referring to settlement itself may have --

A.     Right.  It was actually when the -- we were pretty much ready to go to the mat because we felt the clear violations of the contract, there was the countersuit, the Venture Capital firm that came in just wanted all of that out of the way and said, let's just get this thing done and let's just settle it. So that was how that, the resolution of that problem.  But I'm really -- I can't speak of specific details.

Q.     Do you or any member of your immediate family, that would be your wife, your parents, her parents, your children, have any relationship with Progress Energy, Duke Power, or SCE&G, or SCANA?  That would include stock ownership and that sort of thing.

A.     Other than minor stock ownership.  I have an investment guy that does my retirement funds.  I'm not going to swear that one of those companies isn't in there in the form of like 300 or 500 shares or something like that.  But other than that type of minor involvement, I don't think so.

Q.     Do you have any relationship with any of the charities that Santee Cooper has supported in the last five years?

A.     Not having a specific list of those charities -- 

Q.     What charities do you tend to be most active with, Dr. Molnar?

A.     The American Heart Association, the American Cancer Society, the Y.M.C.A.

Q.     To the extent any of those came up for a, put forward a request for support from Santee Cooper, what would you do in that case if you were a member of the Board?

A.     Well, to the extent that I was specifically involved with any of those charities other than just being a donor, I think, I would have to recuse myself.  But -- and, I mean, I know that I would if I had specific involvement.  I think there's a line between --

Q.     Also, being a contributor versus what?

A.     Being a contributor versus being, you know, on the Board of the charity or something like that.  I mean, for instance, with the Heart Association and the Cancer Society, all I've done is write checks, so I'm not sure that there's a significant conflict there.

Q.     You've mentioned you had two past experiences on Boards; one was on Market Max and the other was within the professional organization that you helped organize and set up and grow over the last number of years.  Would you talk a little bit about your responsibilities within that organization that are away from the recruitment side, away from the side of practicing medicine, that deal more with the business aspects?  What do you do there?

A.     We have monthly Board of Trustees meetings there.  I also serve as the vice president of Carolina Health Specialists.  Ken DeHart, who's the CEO, oftentimes discusses operational issues, things anywhere from accrual versus accounting issues which tend, in medicine, tend to be pretty sticky from the standpoint of very difficult to predict, you know, revenues from year to year based on changes with the co-pays and deductibles and things like that.

We've issues that have recently come up before the Board, things like buy/sell agreements, those types of things; D&O insurance, general, you know, operational issues from the standpoint -- anything from outside offices, contractual issues with outside hospitals, you know, compliance with, you know, state and federal regulations.  Really, the whole nine yards.

Q.     When you served as Chief of Staff of the hospital, did you encounter any of those types of issues?  Or what was your role there as Chief of Staff?

A.     As Chief of Staff of the hospital, you're pretty much the leader of the medical executive committee of the hospital, you interface with the hospital Board of Trustees and serve on the Board of Trustees of the hospital.  Also, preside over the medical staff meetings.  So, probably, the chief negotiator between, you know, the medical staff of the hospital on issues where there could be conflict and whatnot.

Q.     Were you ever in a situation where you had conflict between one group of physicians and perhaps an individual physician or another group of physicians about what they wanted out of the hospital?

A.     Yes.

Q.     How did you resolve that?  What skills or what abilities/approach did you take to it?  What would you take to Santee Cooper in a similar situation?

A.     I think the number one thing that you have do is, you know, hear both sides and listen and really try to get to the bottom of where people are coming from.  And then you've got to use your own moral compass and decide, you know, what's the right thing to do and then, hopefully, you can get people to come to a consensus along those lines.

Q.     Is there any other experience that you would point to that would be important for this committee to know about your having an accounting background, a finance background, business operations background, working with risk management corporate governance, or the power and electric industry that I've missed in terms of the questions that I've covered?

A.     No.  I don't have -- I wish I had an accounting background.  That in Mr. Rainey's testimony, said, you know, it's not a place for on-the-job training.  Fortunately, I think I've -- I've had on-the-job training, but it won't have to be at Santee Cooper.

My accounting probably started, and I've never had a formal course, but my wife got involved in a restaurant when we first came to Myrtle Beach in about 1991, I believe, I got involved in helping with that.  I had to teach myself some rudimentary accounting.  I taught myself Excel to organize what was necessary, you know, in that restaurant to report to the accountants.

I got a lot more involved in having to look at the accounting as our business started to grow with Carolina Health.  In the early stages of Market Max, I spent many hours sitting with my brother-in-law, who is a former CPA with Arthur Anderson, going over the Market Max financials and getting an understanding for those balance sheets.

And then in more recent years when we hired Deborah Randolph who was the former chief financial officer from Canal Industries to be the chief financial officer at Carolina Health, she helped me understand a lot of issues in that regard.

So I'm going to say, accounting kind of came through the school of hard knocks in learning it because you had to, but it's obviously not my strong suit.

Q.     You currently reside, I believe, at 23 South Gate Road in Myrtle Beach; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     And you are a customer of Santee Cooper?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Would you have the time to give to this position if you were confirmed -- 

A.     Yes.

Q.     -- time required?  What do you anticipate that time requirement being each month, if you had to anticipate?

A.     I've gotten the list of scheduled meetings.  It looks like there's at least one meeting a month.  It looks like, typically, there will be -- it would be a Sunday/Monday type thing.  Usually, there's a reception on Sunday night, and then Monday.

The one good thing about my time right now being, the majority of it being administrative time, is that there is a considerable degree of flexibility, more than I would have just being schedule the staff shift positions in the emergency department.  If I was, you know, a hundred percent clinical, it would be almost impossible.

But as far as the time commitment, I think in addition to those meetings, I suspect that there will be called meetings.  There was time that I'll need to study issues.  I tend to operate on a smaller amount of sleep than my wife or my child.  And a lot of that reading, you know, I think, like I've done with this, can be done, you know, I'm thinking about 8:30 and, you know, I'm usually awake until eleven or twelve.  And that's just the way I'm made up.  I'm used to going on a small amount of sleep.

I don't think the ultimate time I'm not anticipating to come down more than, you know, four or five days a month I think would be more than I would anticipate but not un-doable.

Q.     You mentioned that you had studied the Freedom of Information Act since these proceedings had started, or read through it, I believe.  What idea would you champion if you were a Board member?  For example, when you get ready to go into executive session, what are you going to always insist on?

A.     Well, I don't want to say that I've studied it yet.  I've read it three times, but I certainly don't have it committed to memory.  But as my memory serves me, I think, you know, certainly, a key thing is that when you do go into executive session to, you know, probably make sure, with the direction of Santee Cooper's counsel, that this is something that qualifies for executive session.  And then, certainly, once you're in executive session, to stay on that particular topic and not deviate from that topic while you're in executive session.

Also, not to -- it's my understanding that you would not make decisions with regard to that topic, you know, in the executive session, but to sort of hash things out and then come back out to the main Board for the actual decision-making process.

Q.     So putting some flesh to the structure you've just described, before you went in, would you believe that you would have to specifically describe the issue that you were going in for and it would be insufficient to say personnel, legal, or contractual matters?

A.     To the extent that you could specifically describe it, if was a person -- you know, for instance, if it was a personnel matter, I don't know -- I don't have enough experience in that particular regard with regard to Freedom of Information to know what you're allowed to say, what personnel matters.  But, otherwise, the answer to your question would be yes.

Q.     And while you were there, would it be impermissible to reach through consensus, a decision and then just avoid making any public decision after the meeting was back in open session?

A.     It's my understanding that that's not permitted.

Q.     Okay.  So you would have to come out and then at least do something, rather than just rely upon a group or a consensus gathering?

A.     Correct.  There's some vague areas that I'd want to speak with counsel on, with regard to economic development and competitive issues and trade secret issues and things like that, that I'd want direction from counsel on before we'd make any specific announcement.

Q.     Tell me a little bit about Santee Cooper's services.  If you had to say in two or three sentences what they provide, what is it?

A.     Oh, wow.  Two or three sentences.  Well, obviously, they provide electric power to all of the counties in the state to approximately, I think, about 1.8 million of the citizens of South Carolina in conjunction with what's brought through the co-ops.  In addition, water services in Berkeley and Dorchester Counties.  How many sentences have I used up?

Q.     That's good.  That's pretty good.  What, as it relates to the production of power, the generation transmission distribution of power, how do they differ from a SCANA or a Progress in terms of what impacts their cost of service?  What would you point to?  Either good or bad that impacts how much it costs to get that kilowatt of electricity out to their average customer.  What is different from SCANA?

A.     From the standpoint of SCANA, I've actually gone through and made some notes on this which I can refer to, if you feel that I'm getting into trouble.

Q.     Just in general.

A.     But just in general, I think the biggest issue is, obviously, when you have return to -- if they have to supply return to individual investors. And from the standpoint of Santee Cooper, you're really just looking at providing a service and making adequate payment on your debt structure; mainly, being the bonds.

Q.     How about the debt structure itself?  Is there any difference in how it impacts the cost of service between SCANA or Santee Cooper?

A.     Well, I'm not a bond specialist, but I have looked at the structure between the different bonds.  Santee Cooper is able to issue a number of tax-free bonds as opposed to a SCANA or that type where the majority of their bonds -- I think there's a few tax-free bonds that they can also issue with regard to environmental things and things like that.  The majority of their bonds are taxable, whereas the majority of the Santee Cooper bonds would be tax-free.  Some of those are also taxable.

There are, as I understand it, really, three different classifications of bonds that they issue now that are each subordinate to the other.  But, clearly, there's probably a higher cost of debt for a SCANA versus Santee Cooper.  The other issue being the taxation issues, property tax issues, things like that.  

Q.     Those are things that weigh to the side of Santee Cooper being able to provide cost or service at a lower price than SCANA.

A.     Correct.

Q.     What are some things that make it more expensive for Santee Cooper to get that average kilowatt out to the average customer than it would be for SCANA?

A.     Most of the things going through, you know, trying to look at that and, again, just trying to educate myself from a few conversations with Mr. Carter and reading the bond prospectus and reading the, you know, the report of engineers, it seems like probably the biggest thing that Santee Cooper is disadvantaged at is transmission over longer areas to smaller customer bases where the cost of transmission may be higher.  And it's, you know, my rudimentary understanding, as opposed to, you know, transmission to huge population bases, it's obviously cheaper due to economies of scale, but I'm not -- don't pretend to be an expert in that at this point.

Q.     Generally, describe Santee Cooper's customers.  If you had to put them in classes, the types of customers, who would they be?

A.     There are the residential customers that are mainly in Horry, Georgetown, and Berkeley Counties making up about twenty percent, I guess, of total customers.  The largest customer is the Central co-op which I think makes up about 52 percent, 51 and change.  There are the large industrial customers that -- I've got notes that I could refer to them.  I think it's about 30 percent -- roughly, about, I think, about 30 percent, Nucor and Alumax, obviously, being the largest of those by far and representing the significant portion of that percentage.  There's also Georgetown, I think -- is it Bamberg?  I think municipalities that are served directly as wholesale customers.

Q.     The relationship between Santee Cooper and Central Electric Cooperative, how flexible is that relationship?  How fixed is it?

A.     I think it's pretty fixed until about 2033, is my understanding.  I think that that's a fairly -- 

Q.     And what fix is that?

A.     With regard to the rate structure --

Q.     But what fixes that?  Is that a matter of law?

A.     It's a contract.

Q.     A contract?  Okay.  And if there's one or two basic premises under that contract, are you familiar with what they are in terms of, do they pay the same rate that Bamberg or Georgetown pays, or how do you get the rate per kilowatt that's paid by Central?

A.     I think that the -- I'd need to do more investigation into that, but I think it's mainly based on cost.

Q.     Going back to differences between Santee Cooper and SCANA or Progress and Duke Power, how big is Santee Cooper by way of total revenues with those?  If you just looked at South Carolina operations, is it the small player in terms of total sales or is it roughly on par with those, or how big is it?

A.     As other public power companies go, it's pretty big, you know, depending on which parameter you're looking at, whether it's total, you know, megawatt capacity or total generation of gigawatt hours, you know, anywhere from second to fourth on a national level.  But if you're just looking at the state versus the SCANA or Duke, I think it's about one-seventh the size of Duke.

Q.     But just as it relates to South Carolina operations.  Just the operations of SCANA, Progress, or Duke as they come to South Carolina, do you have an idea about how it stacks up?

A.     It's large when it comes to South Carolina.  I don't have the specific percentage without referring back to notes.

Q.     How much were Santee Cooper's operating revenues and operating expenses for last year?  Do you have just a basic idea of what its revenues were?  Just in round numbers?

A.     A round number, I guess, it was in the range, I think, of about 1.1 billion dollars.  But I can, you know, back that -- 

Q.     No.  That's fine.  What about the current bond rating, what is it?  If you've sat through part of these hearings, I believe, what is its current bond rating?

A.     It's a different classification with Fitch and S&P, and they use a different range.

Q.     Just from general --

A.     But I think it was AA-minus, was one of them.  And, again, I can point to it very quickly if I were referring to some notes.

Q.     Sure.

A.     The bond rating is high.

Q.     Good.  And in terms of what impact that has, how much debt is financed through bonded indebtedness at Santee Cooper, generally?  Just round numbers.

A.     I think round numbers now, and I'm not sure whether this includes commercial paper or not, I think it's about 2.7 billion dollars.  But that would be the aggregate amount, including leases is about 2.7 billion dollars and the aggregate amount of the commercial papers, 193 million.

Q.     How much money does Santee Cooper contribute to the state's budget per year in terms of a percent of its operating revenues?

A.     It's my understanding right now, that it's one percent.

Q.     And we were talking about things being crystal clear under Act 573.  Is there any flexibility in that standard developed by 573 as it relates to the one percent?

A.     I don't see much in the near term.  Clearly, a lot of things would come in front of any flexibility in that regard, such as, you know, payment of debt, economic development, those types of things, which are made fairly clear by the change in that statute.  So I don't see much flexibility there.

Q.     Do you agree that if you could get beyond payment of debt, payment of current operational expenses, and prognosticating forecasts in the needs for growth and everything else out there, there could come a point in time where you would have surplus.  And if that surplus could be applied to the state, the statute would allow that?

A.     It appears that it would, once those other things -- if you got to that point there was not a conflict with the operation of the company or maintaining low power rates and things like that.

Q.     Absent getting to that point, what can the company do to provide value to the state of South Carolina, not just to under its operations, but other than that, can you indirectly send money places?  

A.     Well --

Q.     Like the Department of Commerce or whatever?

A.     I think a great example is the recent help with the gypsum plant at Georgetown, those types of things; economic development type issues.  That one being the ultimate win/win.  Both economically and environmentally because it helps get rid of a by-product, that otherwise would have to be hauled off to a landfill, creates something useful out of it, creates economic development, it creates jobs.  I mean, that's kind of like the, would be kind of the gold standard in my mind.

Q.     And if that situation were filtered through the best interest, which is in 573, could it still happen?  Could Santee Cooper still pursue that type of opportunity, you believe, under the new bill, 573?

A.     My understanding would be that you could.  My understanding would be that that would be ideal.

Q.     Okay.  Is there any other type of contributions to the state that you would feel like that you could not pursue, that you might have wanted to, prior to 573 passing and becoming a law?

A.     I would have to really study further the specifics of 573.  I mean, there are a lot of things that, you know, in the original enabling legislation that Santee Cooper is given the power to do.  You know, how that, you know, could potentially interfere with the best-interest clause, you know, you'd have to look at.

Q.     For example, charitable contributions has been a matter of some controversy, and that was something that was meant to be addressed by Senate bill 573, and they had to be tied to the best interest of the ongoing operations of Santee Cooper.

Someone comes to you asking for a large charitable contribution from that tri-county area.  You're sitting there on the Board.  How do you evaluate that, whether that fits into the best interest of Santee Cooper or not?

A.     Very carefully.  That would be -- that's one of the areas that would be pretty sticky in my mind.  Charitable contributions are always tough because you can't make everyone happy and there's not enough money to go around to make everybody happy, so --

Q.     What are some of the things that you would look for if you were going to make your decision?  What are some things that would factor into whether you would make the contribution?

A.     I mean, it would clearly have to be a contribution that was in the best interest of the, you know, the ratepayers and the customers.  And even then, you know, you have to worry, you know, are there other ratepayers or customers that are not going to view that as something in their best interest because then you end up with a minority shareholder problem with regard to that contribution.  So I think it does make the contribution aspect a little bit sticky.

Q.     Would it give you any comfort that other utilities, investor-owned utilities, would make similar contributions?

A.     It does, but they're not quite under the same restrictions with regard to the legal aspects, I think, in that regard, as far as having every, you know, every customer, you know, having the right to bring a suit like that.  So it makes things a little bit tougher.  But I think that it gives you some protection.  Clearly, if it fell along the lines of something that was clearly in the best interest of the company and the ratepayers state that, you know, it would be difficult for somebody to make an argument against that that would stand up in court.  But, you know, you'd still hate to have to go to court to prove it.

Q.     Are you familiar with the Business Judgment Rule that Mr. Gilreath talked about a little bit, Dr. Molnar, while you were here?

A.     Yeah, somewhat.  And I did read the paper and handout that he passed out in that regard and did a little bit of additional -- 

Q.     What protections do you understand that affords you as it relates to your liability, the Business Judgment Rule?  What do you have to do to afford yourself the protections of that rule?

A.     I think that, you know, if you do your homework, you know, ask the appropriate questions, accept your information, you know, from qualified, either members of management that you deem, you know, worthy of trust, as long as you don't have some other information on the side that would negate what they're saying.

Also, from subcommittees of the Board, you know, if you felt, you know, that they were trustworthy and you answered those questions -- or, I mean, viewed that information, you know, the way a prudent lay person would review that information, then I think you're probably okay under the Business Judgment Rule.

Q.     If you were confirmed, you would have four more years to serve, basically, until May 19th, 2009. What legacy would you want to leave at Santee Cooper if that was your four-year term?

A.     I would hope that, by that point in time, you know, you would have a very cohesive Board that, you know, was functioning, you know, much more on the same plane.  I think that there are some issues that, such as -- at least, long-term issues.  I don't think as a short-term issue, but long term.  I think diversification of energy sources.  Right now, I think a lot of people would be surprised to find out that, like last year, you know, 82 percent of the energy in the state came from coal.

I think there's a lot of different ways to move in that regard.  I would like to see protection of the environment that makes sense.  From a business and economic standpoint, I think that, for instance -- I mean, it's really fascinating when you look at the, you know, the little green powered things, you know.  For six dollars a month, you can get, you know, 200 kilowatt hours under the green power.  And although that's an inefficient way to produce electricity right now, the environmental impact of that is huge.

Q.     What is Santee Cooper's green power option come from?  Where is it generated?

A.     Right now, that's at Horry County landfill.  But there's three more ready to go online.

Q.     All to be methane-type generation?

A.     All to be methane-type generation right now.

Q.     You have a unique situation from what you've described and for understanding in terms of having a very close relationship with the Governor. How would you use that to Santee Cooper's advantage during your term on the Board while he was Governor?

A.     Well, as far as using it to Santee Cooper's advantage, I think that the relationship that I have, I don't -- oftentimes when we speak, it's one way, to a large degree.  But I do think that he, at least, listens to what I have to say.  He doesn't always agree with me.  Oftentimes, I think -- I think one of the unique things about our relationship is that, you know, we can agree to disagree on things.

Q.     Well, what would you take away from that ability to agree to disagree?  Is it that you would simply have the ability to tell him no if he asked you for something or do you think there's enough of a relationship there that you can make suggestions to the Governor about what Santee Cooper needed from the Governor or from the Governor's Office, or from government, in general?

A.     Well, I don't know that it would be my place to make suggestions about what Santee Cooper needed.  Although, you know, I could certainly voice that opinion.  Obviously, you know, I'd want it to come from more of a unified opinion from the Board.  I'm not going to go off on my own, you know, asking for things for Santee Cooper.  But if the Board came to a consensus and I agreed with that consensus, I certainly wouldn't have any problem passing on that information.

Q.     I forgot to ask you just a very narrow series of questions I want to go back to.  And that relates to your relationships with customers of Santee Cooper, and you heard some bit of testimony about that, or potential vendors.

How would you approach those?  As an individual Board member, when would it be appropriate to involve yourself in customer rates, customer contracts, customer negotiations, or vendor sales rates, contracts, prices, et cetera?  Is it ever, or when would it be appropriate for you to be involved in those things?

A.     I would think that that would be exceedingly limited, probably near never, but not -- you know, if there was a specific instance where management asked you to come along for that type of thing, obviously, I think that that would fall within what was considered reasonable.  But I don't think that that is the kind of stuff that Board members should, you know -- based on what I heard last week and the reading that I've done, you know, that's not the kind of thing that would be delved into individually.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions, other than I am interested in receiving some information for the committee's benefit about Market Max.  And I'm not quite sure of the forum to tell you to do that in because I don't know that it neatly fits into FOIA to inquire into it.

What I would like to know is the type of allegations that were involved there and it's whether they were personally directed toward Dr. Molnar as opposed to just some type of general corporate matter.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And I don't know whether he can answer that by affidavit and it not be subject to FOIA.

MR. COUICK:  I'm relying upon his representation, which I'm sure he's correct, that as part of the settlement, he perhaps has limitations placed on him about what he can say.

DR. MOLNAR:  I do.  And, I guess, I could talk to counsel about that.  But, I mean, I'd feel reasonably comfortable -- I guess, the question is, is that something that, since it -- since there are limitations imposed by the settlement, is that something that -- does that give me -- would that allow us to --

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Was that a South Carolina action?

DR. MOLNAR:  No.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Where was that?

DR. MOLNAR:  Massachusetts.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And that business has been sold or --

DR. MOLNAR:  It's been sold.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And SAS, who is that that's bought it?

DR. MOLNAR:  SAS, the institute out of North Carolina.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.

DR. MOLNAR:  But they were not involved in this.  This was back with a Venture Capital firm.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  In '98 or '99

DR. MOLNAR:  It may be a little bit earlier.

MR. COUICK:  And the settlement was with the former CEO or president of the company; is that right?

DR. MOLNAR:  Correct.

MR. COUICK:  But the one thing I have, Mr. Chairman, presuming the worst, which would be that there was something that impugned Dr. Molnar's integrity, I don't believe that I would want to bind this committee to not be able to move forward with that, so I'm not real sure -- I'll rely on y'all's direction about how to pursue it.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  We'll get back with you on that and figure out a way that --

DR. MOLNAR -- I'm comfortable --

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And if it's relevant.

DR. MOLNAR:  I'm not sure that it is, but I'm -- you know, it was basically, you know, a business feud or, you know, we filed suit, there was countersuit filed, everybody was named and everything, and it was settled.  It's not --

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  We'll figure out a way to do that.

DR. MOLNAR:  All right.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  All right.  Questions to my left?  Senator Mescher, any questions you have?

SENATOR MESCHER:  Mr. Couick, would you read off the qualifications required under 573?  It's the Board membership.

MR. COUICK:  Yes, sir.  Mr. Chairman, I'd be glad to.  Each member must possess abilities and experience that are generally found among directors of energy utilities serving this state and that allow him to make valuable contributions to the conduct of the authority's business.  These abilities include substantial business skills and experience but are not limited to, one, general knowledge of the history, purpose, and operations of the Public Service Authority and the responsibilities of being a director of the authority.

Two, the ability to interpret legal and financial documents and information so as to further the activities and affairs of the Public Service Authority.  Three, with the assistance of counsel, the ability to understand and apply federal and state laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to, Chapter 4 of Title 30 of the 1976 Code as they relate to the activities and affairs of the Public Service Authority.

And, four, with the assistance of counsel, the ability to understand and apply judicial decisions as they relate to the activities and affairs of the Public Service Authority.

Senator from Berkeley, now, those are only those qualifications that do not deal with residency for the county or whatever.

EXAMINATION BY SENATOR MESCHER:

Q.     I appreciate you appearing before us, Dr. Molnar.  How many of those do you think you meet of those requirements?

A.     The way they're spelled out there, I think I meet the requirements.

Q.     Okay.  You had been appointed in February of this year and there have been four Board meetings that you could have attended.  Did you attend all of those?

A.     Of Santee Cooper?

Q.     Yes, sir.

A.     No.  I was still -- I hadn't gone through this process yet and I was still serving on the Economic Excellence Board, and I've attended all of these meetings.

Q.     So you've attended no meetings of the Santee Cooper Board?

A.     No.  I was -- I felt that I was not entitled to attend those meetings until I got through this process.

Q.     Did someone tell you that?

A.     Yes, I was taking instruction from the Governor's Office, I believe.  I was in communication with Mr. Blackstone, I think, had told me that until we had gone through this process, that -- because it was my understanding that I had to step down from the other committee before I could serve on this one.  And until I got through the confirmation process, you know, I didn't want to give up that other committee assignment.

Q.     From my understanding, other individuals who have been appointed or nominated to the Board have started immediately attended meetings.

A.     I think it had to do with when they were nominated, I think.  I think, I came after a certain point where -- 

Q.     Okay.  

SENATOR MESCHER:  I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Senator Hutto?

EXAMINATION BY SENATOR HUTTO:

Q.     Good morning, Dr. Molnar.  And thank you for coming here so many times.  I appreciate that.

A.     You're welcome.

Q.     You know, one of the general questions, I guess, that anybody asks when you hear that somebody is a doctor and willing to serve on a Board is that, do you have the time.  And I think you've told us that you're mostly administrative now, but do you still actively practice medicine?

A.     Yes, I do.  I still do.  Usually, I'm probably -- I think, this month, I'll probably do about five clinical shifts in the emergency department.

Q.     Okay.  And you're board certified in -- 

A.     Emergency medicine.

Q.     Okay.  Now, I noticed on one of the pieces of information, there was some connection that you have to a business called Synergies of Myrtle Beach?

A.     Yeah.  They're a -- that is an LLC that's really a building, an office building.

Q.     Okay.  It doesn't have anything to do with -- since it had energy in it, I just -- 

A.     Oh.  No, no, no.  It was just a name that whoever was the chairman of the LLC came up with.

Q.     It doesn't have anything to do with a power company or --

A.     It's a medical office building.

Q.     Okay.  What's your understanding of executive sessions, when the Board goes into executive session?

A.     My understanding is that it is -- the Board would go into an executive session to examine a specific type of information, such as we talked about before, like related to trade secrets or economic development or a personnel matter or that type of thing, that when you go into an executive session, that you discuss that item and, you know, that item only and then come out and report in public once a decision can be made or, you know, once you've actually come to a conclusion that you can share with the public.

Q.     And as far as whatever happened in executive session is supposed to stay in executive session?

A.     That's my understanding.  Until you come to a conclusion, for instance, with economic development, I mean, for instance, once that decision is made, then it all should be shared.  But until that decision is made, then it needs to stay in executive session.

Q.     Okay.  I think you indicated at one point in time, that you've spent some time on Lake Marion, I guess, fishing?

A.     Yes.

Q.     Where do you go there?

A.     We've gone to a number of different places.  For the last six years, we've gone at least once a year to Bell's Marina over in Eutawville.  For the last five years, we've gotten a houseboat out of there and I'd just take my little girl there.  And it's a great place because there's no cell phone coverage and you can get away for a few days.

I've also gone out of Black's Camp.  We've gone out of Harry's Camp over on the other side of the lake, fished the diversion canals quite a bit.  And I've got a smaller boat, so it's rare that I feel brave enough to get out on that lake with the size boat that I have.

Q.     So you recognize the major contributions that the lake system makes to tourism in this state?

A.     Oh, absolutely.

Q.     And you know that Santee Cooper has a vital role to play in that?

A.     Yes.

Q.     Okay.  And that the ecology of the lakes is very important, that if we lose the fish or if the water quality goes down, that that could pretty much end a lot of the tourism and related business that comes to the --

A.     Yeah.  It's critically important.

Q.     Okay.  As far as the MedPac, I think you were on it and you got off it, you got back on it, and that's something that you think would not have a direct conflict with your serving on this Board?

A.     I'd have to look into it further, but I don't think so.  When I got off of it, I got off of it because I thought that there was potential conflict. Although, you know, it was one of those things where I didn't ask whether or not there was a conflict.  If it smelled like the potential for conflict, then I got off.  And that's when I was on the Governor's healthcare task force.

Q.     Well, doesn't Medpac basically just review -- well, raises money and reviews requests for political contributions and makes decisions about who to make contributions to?

A.     Correct.

Q.     Is Dallas Lovelace from Orangeburg, do you know him?

A.     Yes.

Q.     He's on that Board, isn't he?

A.     No.

Q.     No?  Okay.

A.     No.  He's not on that.  He was on that healthcare task force with me, but not on Medpac.

Q.     Okay.

A.     Oh, wait.  Dallas Lovelace.  Yes, he is on Medpac -- he's on -- I was thinking of somebody from Newberry named Lovelace.

Q.     Oscar Lovelace?

A.     Yes.

Q.     He's running for Governor.

A.     He was on the healthcare task force and Dallas Lovelace is on the Medpac Board.  I correct that.

Q.     Okay.  Beyond serving on the Medpac Board, you got fairly active in the whole political arena of trying to get doctors involved in politics; is that right?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     In fact, I've seen an article where you wrote, among other things, that John Hawkins could have been defeated for the price of a decent bottle of wine.  Do you still hold to that?

A.     Well, that was a metaphor that was drawn, not one bottle of wine taken out of context, I think, a little bit.  What I was saying was that, physicians, you know, at that point in time, were deeply involved in trying to get some meaningful medical liability reform which, I think you know, came about.  But, at that point in time, it was saying that cost, you know, across, you know, all of the physicians in the state, not one bottle of wine.  It was --

Q.     And I understand that.  My wife is a doctor and I appreciate the fact that doctors are actually more involved than before.  But, I guess, my question is this:  If you get on the Santee Cooper Board, remaining politically active as a doctor, which certainly you are ranked, and I don't think is a conflict other than the time aspect of it --

A.     Uh-huh.

Q.     I mean, now, there may be other members of the General Assembly who think that once you get on one, that you should -- I don't subscribe to their theory.  I don't see a conflict.

But from everything you've told us, you do have, you're on the Board at the hospital you manage a business, your own group, you've got the MedPac, you've got the -- and we know you're going to give up the research position.  But you're convinced in your own mind that you've got the time to do this?

A.     Yes.

Q.     And back to something that Senator Mescher asked you.  Even if you were told that you shouldn't participate actively in Board decisions until this process took place, did you not think, as a matter of educating yourself, that just attending as a spectator would have been a good thing to do, to go to some of the Santee Cooper Board meetings?

A.     In retrospect, attending just as a spectator probably would have been.  There were some things that I wanted to attend when the session was held in Horry County.  And by the time I found out about it, I did have a conflict that night.  I was staffing a shift in the emergency department and I couldn't get to that.

I did go to the thing that Mr. Carter invited me to.  And it was also, now that I think about it, it was under Mr. Carter's direction, as well, that based on the time that I was appointed, that I was not to go to the actual Board meetings.  But when Santee Cooper did hold their reception in Myrtle Beach the night before the Board meeting, I attended that.

So I try to do as much as I could to educate myself.  I did have a meeting with Mr. Carter. I had long conversations with former Board members from the area, with Mr. Dove.  I talked to Mr. Alford, who was also recently on the Board at Santee Cooper, and trying to get as much information as I could that way.

Q.     Okay.  You know, we all recognize that you don't get an appointment to a Board like Santee Cooper without having some connection to the person who's making the appointment, and I have no question about that that's nothing but appropriate.  But you stated earlier that you recognize that if you were confirmed for this position, that your loyalty would be to the Board.

Do I take that to mean that you're telling us now under oath that if the Governor comes to you as a Board member and says, I want you to do something, that you have the ability to exercise your independent judgment in spite of your past friendship and connections to him?

A.     Absolutely.

Q.     Do you think it's even appropriate that he comes to Board members and asks them to do certain things?

A.     He's never done it with me, so -- 

Q.     Okay.  Because you've been on the -- well, what's the name of the Board you serve on now?

A.     The Research Centers.

Q.     Research Centers?  He's never asked you to do anything in connection with that?

A.     He's never made any request to me with regard to what he thought I should do on that.  I mean, I think he just respects my judgment.

Q.     And isn't that the way it should be, that once a Board member is nominated and confirmed that it in reality says that you have met the task, to now be a member of the Board to exercise your independent judgment?

A.     Correct.

Q.     Okay.

MR. HUTTO:  I think that's all the questions I have right now, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  All right.  Dr. Molnar, I want to ask you a few, as well.

EXAMINATION BY CHAIRMAN RANKIN:

Q.     The last series kind of speaks the question of taking a role different from a previous role.  You have been an advocate of Governor Sanford and Congressman Sanford as a candidate.

A.     Correct.

Q.     And you have weighed in on behalf of tort reform as an advocate.

A.     Correct.

Q.     And done well with that effort and, obviously, done well with the election of Congressman Sanford and then Governor Sanford.  So you, no doubt, have still as an advocate -- you may not claim him but you will take that as a compliment, I hope?

A.     Yes.

Q.     You have lobbied or advocated, I think you mentioned the American Heart Association?

A.     Well, I've gone to their fundraisers and written checks.  Beyond that, I don't have any specific involvement with that organization.

Q.     They have the annual Heart Ball in Myrtle Beach?

A.     Yes.  

Q.     And you're involved with that.

A.     Yes.

Q.     Are you on that Board?

A.     No.

Q.     Okay.  Let me ask you, if you had a difference with someone, be it in a political or a professional or a charitable or malevolent context, how do you sort that out?  How do you handle conflicts?

A.     Can you restate that?

Q.     Well, in the sense of the political forum, you've written an op-ed piece that was, you've just answered questions about to Senator Hutto. And, in fact, you listed on your PDQ, that's one area where you have obviously advocated Senator Hawkins' defeat on behalf of Mr. Bright, Lee Bright, I think; is that correct?

A.     Actually, in that paper, I don't think I was advocating the defeat, you know, per se, in the actual paper.  What I was pointing out was that it could have, you know, taken place if physicians were more actively involved in the process.

Q.     You contributed to Mr. Bright's campaign financially?

A.     Yes, I did.

Q.     Okay.  Again, nothing wrong with that.  Let me assure you, I appreciate that involvement. When you, for example, in the Heart Association context, if you have a difference of opinion with the Board or with the group, for example, if they're putting on an event and they've got certain people involved that you may not like or that you may not agree with politically, how do you vent that or do you voice that conflict?

A.     That -- I mean, I really did not have contact with the actual Board members of the Heart Association.  I mean, there's talk that goes around the doctors' lounge, you know, that that type of thing, where, you know, I heard people speaking. That's not, you know, anything that I would get involved with from a political standpoint because it's -- I mean, that's a charity and it's a charitable function.

I don't view that role -- I mean, I know there are some people that were upset about those types of things during the whole tort reform debate.  That wasn't -- but, you know, that's not an avenue to pursue or to go down, I don't think.

Q.     You mentioned early on that your ability on this Board will be more in need because of your, I think you described it as the style of a peacemaker.

A.     Yeah.  I think so.  On the Board level, yeah.

Q.     And it would be on the Santee Cooper Board if you were confirmed?

A.     Correct.

Q.     Did you read any of John Rainey's testimony or statements attributed to him in the press in regard to these proceedings?

A.     Yes.  I mean, I was here for the majority of the testimony.  I was here the first two days.  I missed the Thursday.  I believe he testified some more and I read some of the comments in the press.  I don't know that I recall them specifically, but I did read them.

Q.     Okay.  Well, specifically, you've not been to any Board meeting; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Okay.  And you didn't appear at the first public hearing on advice of Mr. Carter and due to a conflict that you had?

A.     No.  What I said on advice from Mr. Carter was not to come to the Board meetings.

Q.     Okay.  I'm sorry.

A.     And nobody said I couldn't come to the hearing.  It was just that I was already scheduled to work a night shift.  There was nobody else that I could have -- it came up late, short notice, I didn't find out about it until late.

Q.     Okay.  Do you know Carl Falk?

A.     Just from meeting him here.

Q.     All right.

A.     Well, I had met him the first time at the Myrtle Beach reception that Santee Cooper had, and was introduced to him then.  And then I met him again, you know, during these hearings.

Q.     You heard his testimony, I believe, as well as Mr. Gilreath?

A.     Yes.  I believe -- I believe I heard all of Mr. Falk's testimony, if it was just the Tuesday, Wednesday.

Q.     He testified both days.

A.     Yes.  I heard it all, then, if he didn't come after that.

Q.     His qualifications to serve on a Board have not been discussed, at least by us, but you heard him testify as to what he saw while he was there and what, if he had a voice to take to Governor Sanford, that he would articulate to him about where we need to go as a Board.  Do you recall that generally or specifically?

A.     Generally.

Q.     Well, let me give the question to you and the opportunity to you.  You have the voice, if you're confirmed, as the Horry appointment to the Santee Cooper Board from Horry County.  What is the message that you take to Governor Sanford from what you've heard here the two days that you were here, and what you've read or what you've been told from the witnesses that have testified thus far?

A.     I mean, hearing what I've heard in the context that it was presented in, reviewing, you know, the Freedom of Information statutes and whatnot, clearly, you know, I think that some additional education, you know, could be in order in that regard.

Q.     Specifically with regard to FOIA?

A.     Yes.

Q.     Anything else?

A.     I mean, some of the technicalities of I don't think -- like I said, I think the vast majority of the Boards and commissions in this state could probably, you know, use some brush-up on the intricacies of that, because I don't think it's -- some it's just not intuitive.

I guess, the other things would be, there was, you know, concern voiced with regard to taking actions that, you know, or it was felt to involve micro-management where, you know, someone was, you know, alleged to have gone off on their own.  You know, certainly, you know, if that type of, you know, behavior was taking place, then, you know, I think we need to follow the chain of command within the Board.

I mean, like Mr. Rainey was saying, you know, everything should go through the Board chairman.  The Board chairman had control of the Board.  The Board chairman interacted with the CEO.  I mean, I don't think it's inappropriate, for instance, for, you know, especially during this ramp-up phase for, you know, when, you know, there's so much information coming, it's, you know, it's kind of like taking a drink out of a fire hydrant, frankly.

But for me to go to Mr. Carter and, you know, to the extent that, you know, he feels it's appropriate and, you know, ask for information to being myself up to speed, which I've certainly done.    But, you know, when it comes to actual operational issues and things like that, then, you know, I think we should follow the chain of command.

Q.     All right.  And that would be the message that you would carry to the Governor?

A.     Well, at this point, I'm not -- you know, I wasn't asked to carry a message to the Governor.  I mean, I don't think I have a specific plan to carry a message to the Governor.  I mean --

Q.     But you have that opportunity.  And my question is to have you comment on what you've heard, what you've seen, because you've received the same packets that were handed to the press, I believe; were you not?

A.     Yes.

Q.     You got those and you looked through those?

A.     To the extent that I could in the time available, yes.  I mean, I'm not going to say that I read, you know, every word of two feet.  But to the extent that, you know, I sat here and listened to all of that and, like I said, and the way that it was said and the context that it was presented in, those are concerns.

Q.     To put it into context with John Rainey, who likewise sat and heard, I think, maybe three days of testimony and reviewed the same documents that you've had the opportunity.

The message was to the world, not just to the Governor but particularly the financial community, that we need to right this ship and that we need to take control back and it needs to be run -- and, again, I'm paraphrasing -- like a business.

Can you, looking on what you saw and hearing what you heard, believe that Mr. Rainey is correct in that assessment, in that the ship needs to be righted, or do you agree with the direction that it has been headed in the last two years?

A.     Well, clearly, anything that would take Santee Cooper in a direction to involve, you know, this much controversy, you know, isn't healthy.  As Rainey said, you know, financial markets don't like uncertainty.  So, and I'm certainly, you know, not in a position to question somebody of Mr. Rainey's stature.  I mean, somebody that's been chairman of the Board of Santee Cooper for that long with the business credentials that he has, I mean, you know, I take and listen to everything he says seriously.

Q.     Have you spoken to him about your potential service on the Board?  Mr. Rainey?

A.     Only very briefly, you know, after this meeting was over, you know, outside of the building.  But not anything specific that I recall.

Q.     Okay.  And, again, not that you're supposed to talk to everybody, but I had just wondered if you had pursued that after his testimony.

Have you gone back and read the resolutions that were adopted in November, and then December of '03, back to the Board minutes?

A.     I've read so many things in the last, you know, several months, I -- but I don't recall specifically whether I did or not.

Q.     Okay.  Well, the specific focus there being the contributions to the state and the one-time extra surplus money going to the state.  Are you familiar with that generally or -- 

A.     I'm familiar with it generally, and probably most recently familiar with it in Mr. Rainey's testimony.

Q.     What of his testimony do you recall specifically on that subject?

A.     I recall him saying that there was a meeting.  It was his understanding that there was a fifteen million dollar hole to fill, that he was -- it was my impression that he was trying to facilitate that happening, that there was a negotiating process between, you know, how much money Santee Cooper was going to ultimately contribute.  I recall that they had tried to spell out some specific areas where that money would go that would -- to some degree, meet Santee Cooper mission.  And, beyond that, he said that he also was involved with Chairman Edwards, I believe and --

Q.     Right.  And I'm interrupting you; forgive me.  But specifically regarding future contributions, now with 573, that's not as easily obtained by the Board.  But the testimony that we heard from him about where the increases would be felt.  If we were to increase the contribution to the state, who would pay for that?  Did you tune in to that?

A.     Yes.  He felt that, you know -- he felt that you could not make those increased contributions without affecting the ratepayers.  And, specifically, the ratepayers, you know, the residential rate payers, the private service ratepayers in, you know, Horry, Georgetown, and Berkeley Counties, I think, got affected the most.

The other thing of his testimony that I thought was particularly interesting, and I think I've got a copy of it up here, was where they actually broke down the contributions, and this is the first time I had seen that, where they actually took the amount of money that the one percent was derived from based on the previous statute of how that money should be allocated to the state, and he went down and did a year by year thing where, you know, some years they were up and some years they were down.  And when you added all of the years together, I think it was about 13 million dollars or something in change.

And I think that was relatively powerful from the standpoint that, you know, it showed that there was not a, you know, a huge under-supply or over-supply of money to that state at that point in time, and I think helped him make his point.  Because, otherwise, that the only way you wouldn't affect, you know, the ratepayers would be if there was considerable waste or there was considerable additional funds, which it didn't look like there were.

Q.     Okay.  Were you here for Mr. DuBose's testimony last week?

A.     I don't think so.

Q.     The idea authored by him and, I think, felt by, most generally and specifically Mr. Rainey voiced this, too, that given the co-ops' relationship, given industries’ relationship with Santee Cooper, that the only place that an increase to the state would be felt would be on the backs of the residential customers.

A.     And that's what I was alluding to when I made that statement.

Q.     Okay.

A.     Yes.

Q.     Do you have any reason to disagree with that sense or that testimony directly from Mr. Rainey or from Mr. DuBose?

A.     I don't have any reason to disagree with that.

Q.     Okay.  Do you know what the relationship is with the co-ops?

A.     As I testified earlier, I have a general understanding.  I know that there's a specific contract with Central that goes until 2033, I believe.  I do not have command of the specific details of that contract at this time.

Q.     Do you know what percentage of Santee Cooper's total sales that that contractor or that relationship represents?

A.     I believe it's above 51 percent.

Q.     Okay.  How about the relationship with the Nucors, the Alumaxes, industry?

A.     Nucor and Alumax are clearly the -- make up the majority of the industrial customers, Alumax the most, Nucor second.  I could refer to notes and give you specific percentages.

Q.     No, no.

A.     But it's -- I think, between the two of them, it's over 17 percent.

Q.     Okay.  Contributions now, not to the state, additional one-time money, but let me ask you about benevolence within communities, within the service areas, direct or indirect, that Santee Cooper has.

Are you aware of the controversy concerning that subject?

A.     I believe there was, yes, controversy over sponsorships and charitable donations.

Q.     What's your take on all of that?

A.     To the extent that -- clearly, to the extent that it's not in the best interest of Santee Cooper, it shouldn't be done, period.  And that's made very clear under the current legislation.  When it does -- when it is in the best interest of Santee Cooper, then I think it would have to be weighed very carefully to be sure that you're not offending other ratepayers, that -- you know, I think any time that you're spending, you know, rate payer money like that, you'd better look at it very carefully.

I think, from the standpoint of charitable contributions, you know, you have to look at it really, really closely, especially in lieu of the new legislation.

Q.     Any one that stuck out in your mind prior to 573 being adopted, a contribution that you took issue with or that you've since changed your position on upon further reflection or more information being given to you?

A.     One of the ones I took issue with, when I heard about it and read about it in the press and things like that was the Heritage, support of the Heritage Golf Tournament.  That was a fairly significant amount of money.

But since then, you know, I talked to Mr. Carter and the thing that made it seem like it was more of a business-type thing, in my mind certainly, was when he told me, “well, I hated going there, you know; all we did was work the entire time.”  I think that, you know, I mean, it was obviously a business thing in his mind.

Now, again, that falls under the same type of thing where, you know, what you read about in the press and then what you hear about on the inside gets a little bit different.  But that would clearly be one of those areas where it would have to be looked extremely carefully to see whether or not it fit the mission of Santee Cooper and whether it, you know, fit the best interest rule.

Q.     Do you see or do you recall Mr. Rainey's testimony on that subject too, if an investor-owned utility was there, they would be contributing -- putting back into the community in the same vein that historically Santee Cooper has done?

A.     Yes.

Q.     Do you disagree with that belief?

A.     Well, it's certainly -- I mean, certainly, it's a fact that an investor-owned utility would be doing that.  But to the extent that you have a captive market and market share, you know, the question is how much of that would you need to do to give the maximum value to your ratepayers and to the company to keep the rates down and to not have excessive spending.  So I think it's a real tight rope that you'd have to walk.

Q.     Are you familiar with what the amount of contributions historically has been compared to the total sales?  And if you knew, then, God love you.

A.     I'm guessing it's about a tenth of a percent.  And the reason I'm saying that is because I think I recall about 1.8 million dollars and I'm trying to do the math in my head, versus a billion dollars in revenue.  So without getting on my palm pilot and punching it out, I wouldn't swear it to.

Q.     You've sensed that may not be that big of a deal or -- 

A.     Well, I mean, that sealed joke, you know, a million here and a million there and, pretty soon, you're talking about real money.  But, you know, I think you want to really, you know, not waste any money.  And, obviously, that's not possible.  But to the extent that, you know, you can look after those things and make sure that the money is being spent wisely and properly and in the best interest of the company, I think that's what you need to do.

Q.     You're familiar with the Conway Hospital Foundation, I'm sure.

A.     Yes.

Q.     Burns Massey testified or came to the public hearing in Conway and was complaining about the Board's decision, Santee Cooper's decision to not fund a health outreach ambulance or some transportation mode.  Do you recall that or have you heard of the criticism since you've been named as an interim --

A.     I haven't heard of that.  Obviously, that's the kind of thing I would definitely recuse myself from.  If there was any contribution going to a medical entity, I wouldn't want to -- it probably wouldn't pass the sniff test for me to get involved in that type of thing.

Q.     Okay.  And, also, the testimony from the Palmetto Economic Development Office, Dan Erformit, I think, an officer, about the benefit of that Heritage presence in marketing.  Compared to other states, his belief was that Santee Cooper and South Carolina blew them out of the water, and that competitors coming into that tent or booth or whatever they do there, were always blown over by South Carolina's presentation.  Is that all news to you?

A.     Well, no.  I did hear that since -- like I was saying, I had my initial opinion from what I had read in the press, and then, you know, you modify things as, you know, as different information comes in.

I do recall hearing something in that regard.  I think, in some context, in this hearing.  If not, in the press and in articles related to this hearing.  You know, to the extent that, you know, that was a specific benefit, you know, to economic development and not at the expense of the ratepayers, you know, and put in the appropriate context, you know, I might have to revisit my, you know, original opinion on that.

Q.     Okay.  You have followed a lot of Horry folks who have been offered as nominees to serve on this Board from the Horry County area.  Lastly, is Vernie Dove who served.  Have you spoken to him about what is required of you and the issues concerning service on Santee Cooper's Board?

A.     Yes.

Q.     What suggestions have you gleaned from that conversation?

A.     Vernie was very clear, you know, about the time commitment and making sure that, you know, that there would be enough time, that I would have enough time.  And so I did, you know, spoke with my wife and looked at my schedule and my different commitments, what I could, you know, what different things I was on, committees and things like that, where I could relieve myself of some responsibilities that I have now and felt comfortable with that.

I also talked with Vernie about some of the charitable contributions.  I think, in particular, once that stood out was maybe the Birds of Prey issue. Because I wanted to educate myself and see, well, how does that -- you know, how ratepayers -- and it did get into -- and he, you know, gave a plausible explanation with regard to environmental groups and birds of prey being injured by power lines and things like that.  So we had discussions along those lines.  It's been a while now, so I don't really recall specific details.  But a pretty long conversation.  But several months.

Q.     Okay.  You've mentioned at the outset that you, I think, didn't solicit this nomination?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     That you were, I guess, called or got a letter or however, e-mail?

A.     I was called.

Q.     Okay.  And you followed Hugh Martin's appointment and then withdrawal?  

A.     Correct.

Q.     All right.  Billy Alford is who Vernie Dove, I think, succeeded; is that correct?

A.     That's correct.

Q.     Have you had opportunities to speak with him about what is required of you and of service on the Board itself?

A.     Yes.  Both at -- I spoke with Billy for a while.  But actually, he approached me about, I believe it was at his daughter's wedding and he was, you know, very enthusiastic about the possibility of me serving on the Board.  And since then, he's called me and we've had some conversations with regard to serving on the Board, and he seemed to want to help in any way that he could.

As far as specific operational things and stuff, I think Billy's focus was more -- Vernie was more, I think, focuses more on charities and Billy's focus was more on economic development and he wanted, you know, to speak more about the potential that Santee Cooper had with regard to economic development.

Q.     Well, and this is kind of a unique conversation you and I are having, but Billy Alford, obviously, is a passionate Horry County citizen, passionate about things that need to happen in Horry County.  And I think during his tenure on the Board had arranged, and with the Board's blessings, had some good things going for Horry County with regard to Santee Cooper and the cooperatives recognizing their relationship.

What role or what charge do you see coming from Horry County that might be different from a Mr. DuBose or someone else?  Do you see any difference being from Horry, Georgetown, or Berkeley, or should a member from those areas see a different charge in their service?

A.     Well, I think, when the original legislation was established, obviously the writers of that legislation had to have in mind that they wanted specific representation from the three counties because they're given representation additional to their congressional district.

So just, I think that -- and I don't think that you're necessarily -- I think, you know, it's clear that each member of the Board has to look after the interests of Santee Cooper as a whole.  But it is human nature for somebody coming from a specific area, representing a specific group of ratepayers to at least have a better feel for what's going on in their area to best represent them.  And that's the whole idea, I think, of having representation from different areas and from different skill-sets, such as people that have served on co-ops or from the industrial area.

Q.     Being from Horry County, does it give you a different perspective than possibly an upstate person or a Charleston person in terms of your duties at Santee Cooper?

A.     It may to some degree with regard especially to the, you know, the dramatic growth in the area, that I think I have a different perspective on that, or with Gary Loftis over at the University, trying to make projections with regard to, you know, how many people are going to be in the community on a given weekend and whatnot.

I think I've had some discussions with Mr. Carter about, you know, how does that, you know, this dramatic increase in, you know, residential building and whatnot, increase the demands, you know, on Santee Cooper.  So I think, you know, you do bring the unique perspective of the area but, obviously, that needs to be balanced about the good for the company as a whole.

Q.     I got you.  Back to the earlier line of questioning of the terms, the advocacy.  You have spoken clearly about your belief that you fall within the four categories of qualifications under the bill, and you have no question that you're capable and qualified from those perspectives to serve.

A.     Uh-huh.

Q.     And your sense of independence you've spoken to, possibly with each of the questioner's comments to you.  I think you've answered it that if the Governor asked you to do something and you didn't believe it was in the best interest now of Santee Cooper, you would say no.  Did I hear that, or am I paraphrasing that correctly?

A.     I don't know if you're paraphrasing precisely.  And maybe that's what I said and maybe -- but what I would do is, I would certainly listen, like, you know, I would hope that you would listen to me.  And then if I didn't agree, you know, then I would say no.

Q.     Well, particularly, Mr. DuBose last week, in reference to the question of extra money to the state, said that he would -- and, again, I'm paraphrasing and I can be corrected later -- but if the Governor asks for more money, as you know he is continuing to do; you do know that, don't you?  That the Governor believes that the state should get a greater return out of Santee Cooper?

A.     I'm aware that that opinion exists.

Q.     All right.  Are you aware of that from the press or from Governor Sanford directly?

A.     Mainly, from the press.  I mean, I've read, you know, significant quotes and things like that that are coming out and always not sure, you know, take with a grain of salt what comes out of the press office versus what's, you know, more the rule.

Where the Governor specifically stands on that, I mean, I know that if, in general, if the Governor feels that there is any waste anywhere in government, that, you know, he would like to try to pare that down.  So if he felt that there was waste occurring under the, certainly under the previous legislation, and if there was any waste, then he felt that that should go back to the state.

And under the previous legislation and the way that that was written, it was almost, you know, it seemed -- you know, certainly, one could come to that conclusion very easily from reading that section.  Now with the new and with the best interest, the way that best interest is defined, I mean, that's separated out, so it makes it kind of moot point.

But like I testified previously, where my biggest issue would have been, would have been the way that money was supposed to be allocated to the state and that the one percent, in my understanding, was supposed to be, you know, kind of an average out of, to give the state an idea so that, fiscally, the state can act from year to year and count on a specific amount of revenue coming in from Santee Cooper.

If that was clearly lopsided, if it came out that, one way or the other, you know, if it came out that Santee Cooper was giving too much, you'd go one way.  If you found out that they weren't contributing enough, then you can go the other way.  But I don't think there's that latitude under the current legislation.

Q.     So that any comments are again attributed to the Governor's Office through the press releases that recently say that the state should be contributing more money, still in the face of the House and the Senate's passage of this bill, and I think as recently as the override of the Governor's veto, those comments you don't believe would constrain you to look for a greater return to the state?

A.     Well, not to the state.  Certainly, you'd still look for and try to get, you know, a greater return to the ratepayers, to try to pay down the bonds faster and things like that.

Q.     And, again, you have the benefit of not having been on this Board and not having served during the initial raising of its head of this issue when the Board members gave extra money -- again, on a one-time deal, to the state and the sense that that wasn't going to cost the ratepayers, or wasn't going to cost anybody money, you have the benefit of not having served under that time.  And, again, God love you and God bless you for that, probably.

Now, though, if you are hearing, and again if they're correct, the sense that there still needs 

to be a greater return to the state, in the face of DuBose's comments last week that you can't do it and he would say no to the Governor, in the face of Mr. Rainey's testimony that the only place it's going to come from is the folks that you and I live with, residential customers in Horry, Georgetown, and Berkeley, and the Governor says to you, still, we've got to give more money to the state, where do you see that money coming from and how do you do it?

A.     Unless there was considerable waste, you know, at this point in time I'm not aware of, or -- you know, at this point in time, I don't think you can under the current legislation.  I mean, I think you've got to -- the direction that you would have to head into would be paying down debt first before you can make that type of contribution.  I mean, I think it's spelled out pretty clear in the new bill.

Q.     The question earlier posed by Mr. Couick regarding independence, I call it advocacy.  You have advocated admirably in Congressman Sanford's climb and success in politics.  When can you take the advocate's hat off and put the independent hat on and a hat of objectivity so that you can flatly say, no, it can't be done?  Is this an instance where you would have no problem in doing that?

A.     In the context that I've described to you, I don't think I'd have any problem at all.

Q.     Okay.  Then I'm going to interrupt myself here.  Senator Hawkins has come in and wants to be recognized for a comment or something.   Welcome, as a member of the Judiciary Committee, Senator Hawkins.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for indulging me.  And I had just wanted to come over.  I can't stay long because we've got a floor debate going on.

But I did want to come over because somebody had handed to me some comments that my name had come up, so I thought I'd just come over and see what was being said.  And I saw, I guess, an article you wrote.  You are, I guess, John Molnar?

DR. MOLNAR:  Correct.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  Okay.  And an article that was written by you, I guess, sometime last year, wherein you said that, you made some comments about me and that I could have been defeated for the price of a decent bottle of wine.  And I was just wondering what kind of bottle of wine you were talking about, because I like wine, too, sometimes.

DR. MOLNAR:  Well, I guess, I was thinking about like $19 or something like that, in that range. I guess that would be decent.  And that was, and I think the context of the article was that number extrapolated over all of the physicians in the state.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  I see.

DR. MOLNAR:  And this was in the context of the tort reform issue which I am aware now that, you know, when the final vote came down, that y'all were on the side of that, which we certainly appreciate.  But at the time, you were considered an enemy on that issue of medicine.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  An enemy?

DR. MOLNAR:  At that time, that was the way it was viewed.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  Okay.  Not an adversary, but an enemy?

DR. MOLNAR:  Adversary.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  All right.

DR. MOLNAR:  It's a better word.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  All right.  I just wanted to hear what you had to say about it.  I look forward to your confirmation as it moves forward and maybe you and I can sit down and talk and -- 

DR. MOLNAR:  I'd be happy to do that. I welcome you to read the rest of the article.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  I know.  I've read it.

DR. MOLNAR:  But it was -- I think you have to take the whole thing -- the whole thing was really in the context of physicians traditionally have not been involved the way they should be in the political process.  And that was one of the reasons that they're facing some of the hurdles that they're facing right now.  And I think that that was the context that that article -- that those references were made.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  Well, you never know, do you, in politics how things kind of come back around.  And I've made, certainly, comments that I've regretted.  And you may not regret these comments, but I'm not going to hold them against you.  I just wanted you to look at me and see me sitting up here, thinking there's 29 votes and that cheap bottle of wine.

DR. MOLNAR:  Well, I don't know that, you know, that I regret or don't regret.  You know, I don't know enough about you yet, I don't know enough about specifically where it's coming from.  But, you know, in the context that it was in, you know, I don't think, you know, we were talking about really an amount of money and not, you know, about, you know, wine, per se.  I mean, that was just a metaphor that was used.

SENATOR HAWKINS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'm going to head back over.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Thank you, too.

CONTINUED EXAMINATION BY CHAIRMAN RANKIN:

Q.     Back to the, can we get more, where does it come from, again, recognizing that 573 now constrains the Board from pursuing things that may not be in the best interest of the customers, the bonds holders and Santee Cooper as a whole.  But let me ask you, if you were to hear and if you were to be confirmed and you were to hear from Governor Sanford that, y'all need to come up with more money.  There needs to be more than 13-and-a-half million dollars or there needs to be more than one percent of sales, do you see this as kind of setting up an ongoing controversy that exists between you, as a Board member, and the investor-owned utilities across this state?

A.     Can you rephrase that?  I'm not exactly sure where you're going with that.

Q.     If that is the charge, at least of the Governor, in his belief -- and, again, no harm in that belief; I think it's wrong.  But you have been selected by him to serve, you have been an advocate of his, historically -- and, again, the question is whether you can take the advocacy hat off and serve objectively and independently.

If that is the belief of the Governor, that you as a Board of which you would serve as one of the eleven members, need to come up with more money to the state, does this tend to foster an ongoing controversy between the investor-owned utilities and Santee Cooper, the second largest public utility in the country?  Do you see that at all as an ongoing discord and potential battle?

A.     I'm not sure how it's a battle -- I guess, I don't quite understand the question as far as how it's a battle between the investor-owned utilities and Santee Cooper placed in that context.  And, again, I think I made clear that I can act independently.  I also think that regardless, at this point in time, the way the current legislation reads, there's not much direction to move there, anyway.  So, I guess, I'm not sure -- I guess, I'm just not sure where you're going with the idea between the investor-owned utilities and Santee Cooper and the controversy.

Q.     One of the standard questions I've asked since I've been serving in this role of every nominee who would seek to be confirmed to Santee Cooper is a question that you really now don't have to answer, given 573.  But I'm going to ask it, anyway.

Do you ever envision any scenario in which the sale of Santee Cooper would be of benefit to Santee Cooper, its customers, its bondholders, or the state?

A.     There's no scenario that immediately comes to mind that, you know, when you say in the context of Santee Cooper and its bondholders, you know.  And some of the people that I've spoken with in the past, I mean, clearly, as long as Santee Cooper remains an asset, you know, to the state and, you know, to the ratepayers and to the bondholders, then, you know, then, no, you know, under the previous legislation.

If it was clearly not in the state's best interest, and I'm not sure what scenario that would be, but, you know, if it wasn't in the best interest of the state and the ratepayers, for whatever reason, then, you know, I guess, you'd have to consider it.  But that's really, you know, reaching to find that scenario.

You certainly can't come to that conclusion right now, but I've just learned in medicine that you just never say never because things arise that you just didn't realize could arise and things could happen that, you know, you didn't foresee.  But there's certainly nothing that I could foresee right now.

Q.     Okay.  And did you read the forward to the Credit Suisse First Boston study that was written by a former Board member, Mr. Keith Munson?

A.     I think, I did skim over it just in trying to get through all of the documents that I was handed, you know, in the last meeting.

Q.     And not that you would be held to know specifics.  But I want to ask you, in keeping or in line with Mr. DuBose's answer to the question, do you agree that Mr. Munson was correct in that Santee Cooper has fulfilled its mission?  Are you aware of that comment or that line of thought in his forward?

A.     I don't think I read it to the point where I could pick out that particular phrase.

Q.     Well, what do you think --

A.     If you want to fill me in, I'd be happy to take a crack at it.

Q.     Well, you know when Santee Cooper was developed.

A.     Right.

Q.     You know the historical --

A.     Yes.

Q.     -- charge that it's had and who it's served, who it's reached, you've heard all of that.

A.     Uh-huh.

Q.     Do you see that having been accomplished or do you see an ongoing mission, ongoing charge for Santee Cooper as we've known it for the last 70-plus years?

A.     I guess, putting it in the context of not in that article, but in my own, you know, reading, you know regarding the history of Santee Cooper, certainly, one of the charges was to bring electricity to the 98 percent of the people in the rural areas that were without electricity at that point in time.  I mean, that's off of the Santee Cooper website.  And I think that charge, you know, has, probably to a large -- I think to a large degree, been fulfilled. I mean, I think that that charge in particular.

Now, as far as additional charges that have come along the way with regard to economic development and, you know, improving the lives of people in this state, I mean, that's, you know, what the whole thing is about is trying to make things better for your kids and things like that.  So I don't think that, you know, that's complete.

But I think taking it in the narrowest context of bringing electricity to, you know, the, you know, poorest, most rural part of the state, I mean, I think that's probably largely been fulfilled.

Q.     I got you.  All right.  I'm about through and I just want to ask you a couple more things.

The controversy, I think your term earlier -- and maybe I've used it more than you -- but it seems to have pitted the General Assembly against the Governor with regard to Santee Cooper, and the qualifications of those who will serve it in the future and the best interest that the Board members are to exemplify and carry out.  Do you see this effort 573 as a healthy thing, as a negative thing, is it all politics?

A.     No.  I don't think it's all politics.  I think that -- and in some ways, I think it's healthy.  There's a few things that I'm a little bit uncomfortable with, but, you know, I follow the law.  A law is a law and, you know, that's what you do.

I think --- I just have a little bit of ambivalence about certain things.  For instance, obviously, you want to have continuity on the Board.  You want to have people there that -- I mean, it takes a long time to develop the knowledge and accumulate the knowledge that you need to have to be an effective Board member.  So barring unusual circumstances, I think that, you know, it's a good thing to have, you know, terms be terms.

On the other hand, you know, having a business and realizing the legal problems that can occur from trying to get somebody that you really think has done a bad thing or a wrong thing, I mean, sometimes, it's pretty tough to go to court and prove that.  And I think Santee Cooper's own employees are employees at will.  Certainly, you know, all of our physicians are employed, you know, 90 days without cause.  And it's not because we don't think they should, you know, in a lot of circumstances, be allowed that ability to defend themselves.  But in today's legal environment, sometimes it could be pretty tough to get rid of somebody that you really do need to get rid of.

So just trying to weigh that, I haven't, you know, just haven't worked out in my own mind whether that's a good thing or a bad thing, because I think it's a good to have people there as long as they can be there, but, you know, it might be not so good of a thing that, you know, you might have to go through a, you know, drawn out legal proceeding to get rid of somebody that you really need to get rid of.

Q.     Well, in that context, assume that you were asked by Governor Sanford, over the next two years and thereafter or whoever, to do something in your tenure -- you've got four years ahead of you if you're confirmed -- you're asked by the Governor to do something that you don't think is in the best interest of Santee Cooper, do you stick to your guns or do you resign and allow the Governor to appoint someone else who might give him what he wants?

A.     I mean, you're representing the Board.  I mean, you stick to your guns.  And, you know, put in that context, I mean, you stick to your guns.  I mean, I don't see the Governor coming and asking anybody to resign.  I think -- actually, I think the legislation specifically precludes that, so -- 

Q.     If that had happened in the past, and absent this legislation, would that have been a good thing or would that have been a bad thing?

A.     If what had happened?

Q.     For example, Mr. Falk.  You've heard the testimony that he was called Monday, two or three weeks ago.  He had served well since December, apparently, as an interim appointment.  If you get that pressure, my question is, do you resign or do you stick to your guns over a particular issue that may, again, affect the best interest of Santee Cooper?

A.     If it affects the best interest of Santee Cooper and that's what, you know, you've been appointed to do, then that's what you've got to do is stick to your guns.

Q.     Okay.  You are reputed, and I know it personally, to be a very bright fellow, a very capable fellow.  One thing that is said about you by mutual friends at home, you aren't going to come to a meeting to meet and eat.  You're going to do your homework before.  And if you are confirmed to serve in this capacity, it would be my hope that you would remain true to what you've said to us today, and that you would pay attention to the testimony of those who have come before you under oath, with an eye towards how to run and how to serve.  Not from a political perspective, I'm saying that, but from a legal perspective.  And, as Mr. Rainey and Mr. Gilreath said, from a real world perspective.  Hopefully, you got that and I trust that you do, knowing what I knew about you before and hearing what I've heard from you today, and as well as trusting in Governor Sanford's appointment of you.

This is not something that is a meet and eat kind of service.  This is probably --

A.     Clearly not.

Q.     -- one of the highest calls and even more heightened standard of care now for the Board in its future makeup.  So I want to applaud you for offering to serve and being here and reading, again, what you will have to read out of these hearings.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Any questions from Senator Mescher?  All right.  And, of course, the smartest one on the panel, Nancy Coombs, and then we are going to break till about -- once she's finished, depending on her wrap-up, we will meet at 1:45 back here.  We're not going to vote on you without the full complement of the subcommittee.

MS. COOMBS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I just have a couple of questions, so that we should be done in two or three minutes.

EXAMINATION BY MS. COOMBS:

Q.     I was just curious after reading your article on -- well, first of all, is your wife employed?

A.     Yes.  She trains horses and gives horse riding lessons right now.

Q.     And how long has she been doing that?

A.     I guess, about four or five years.

Q.     How did she come about that job?

A.     It was something that she always wanted to do her entire life.  She had taught school for years and then managed the restaurant.  And then when my little girl was -- she went out of the employment world, I think, ages about birth through five years.  And then once Jess was in school, she had had some -- she has a talent in that area.  She had done it as a kid, all the way through college at a very high level.

Different friends that had horses and things like that had asked her to work with them when they had difficult animals, and word of mouth got out that, you know, if you want your horse to behave, if you want to win shows, things like that, this is the person to see.  And one thing just led to another and now, it's just become a full-time thing.

Q.     And, I guess, I've been trying to understand some of the decisions that have been made by some of this Board members, and you were here for the discussion on the Drummond Coal and Maybank Shipping issue.  And, I guess, I've been trying to understand what motivated the director to seek a meeting with, or to agree to meet with representatives, I believe of Maybank Shipping.

And, I guess, I also was curious about your comment and your article, Political in Action, that we've been discussing today.  You were talking about how important it is for doctors or physicians to get involved in the political process, and you stated that the other people at political fundraisers typically tend to be leaders of the community with a conspicuous absence of physician leaders.  The contacts made at these events can be very valuable and everything from getting a physician's spouse a job to getting investment ideas, to quelling a potential lawsuit before it's filed.  And so I was curious about your comment to getting a physician's spouse a job.

A.     I'm not sure specifically what I was thinking about when I wrote that.  What it might be is, we have had, for instance, physicians relocating to the Myrtle Beach area.  Always -- one of the things that's difficult about recruiting people to -- other than the high cost of housing -- but when you bring a physician to the area with a spouse that, for instance, that's in the business community, that's got a good job somewhere else and they're coming from, you know, from a larger city, it is certainly helpful to know people that you can call up, you know, in the real estate area or, you know, banking or whatnot, and say, hey, there's, you know, we've got somebody, you know, if they're a good fit, if you're looking for somebody in this area or you know somebody that is, would you let us know because we're trying to relocate these people and if we can't get -- you know, if we can't make their spouse happy, we're not going to make them happy and we're not going to get them here.  I think that's pretty much the context.

Q.     Well, I was curious about, if someone came to you as a director of Santee Cooper about getting a job for someone or -- 

A.     No.  Clearly not.  I mean, that's -- people that know me would know that, you know, I don't -- I mean, that's not the way operate.  If it was in exchange for something, any time that I've ever, you know, asked somebody and -- I'm trying to go back and play back the memory tapes right now and decide on the contacts.  But, you know, it's more from the standpoint, you know, if this works for you, you know, with your business and in our business.  But that's not, you know, from the standpoint of nothing where, you know, it would even get close to any type of conflict anything like that, if that's where you're going with this.

Q.     So you don't have any connections with any potential vendors or suppliers of Santee Cooper, like Drummond Coal or Maybank Shipping or --

A.     I think that's probably one of the things that I might bring to the Board is that, I really don't have any kind of contacts like that all because of the business that I'm in.  So, I think, I can operate with, you know, pretty complete objectivity in those type of arenas.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Thank you.  A couple more, as I may have asked this of someone, I think maybe to Mr. DuBose the other day, but have you felt in any way at any time that this subcommittee or the judiciary committee or staff, counsel, or anyone on behalf of the State Senate has treated you unfairly?

DR. MOLNAR:  I don't think unfairly, no.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Have any of the questions that you've been asked been unfair to you?

DR. MOLNAR:  No.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Well, you were hedging on the first question.  Obviously, something that has been like getting a tooth pulled without a shot of novocain in this process?

DR. MOLNAR:  Well, it wasn't -- I don't think that it was unfair, and it was certainly valuable to be here.  If it was -- my schedule is made out, you know, relatively far in advance.  You know, I drop things and rearrange things when I have to.

I had spoken with Mr. Couick fairly long ago to arrange for the Wednesday, you know, that I was to be here.  And then, you know, it was kind of a last minute thing to be here Tuesday, as well.  And that was the reason I couldn't make it for Thursday because I'd shuffled everything from Tuesday to Thursday and, you know, tried to rearrange that.  I don't think it was unfair because stuff happens and you just have to make do with it.  But it was a strain.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And I apologize to you for that.  This is kind of a difficult thing to grapple with, as well, and any inconveniences that you've suffered in that regard, I'll apologize to you on behalf of the committee.  As you recognize, things do happen.  So, otherwise, I'm finished.  Senator Mescher?

REEXAMINATION BY SENATOR MESCHER:

Q.     Mr. Molnar, I caught twice while you were discussing contributions with Senator Rankin, the word waste, and that concerned me that you might think a contribution would be a waste of money.  Would you elaborate on your relationship to the word waste and contribution?

A.     You know, I guess, whether it would be -- certainly, it would depend on the context of the contribution and what it was.  I mean, I don't think you could ever throw a charitable contribution, for instance, in the area of waste.  But, you know, certain solicitations and things like that as I refer to with regard to, you know, different types of things that Santee Cooper might get asked to do, I guess, I'm more certain about the view that when you go through specific contributions, you're never going to make everybody happy.  And you're going to have to look at that from the standpoint of, you know, who are you offending when you give money to someone else and then you can't afford to give money to them, as well.  Certainly, there would have to be a significant balance there.

As far as referring to waste, I guess, what I -- and I'm trying to remember the exact context that that was in.  But, certainly, you know, if there is wasteful spending, you know, anywhere in this state, I mean, that's, you know, obviously something that you want to try and get a handle on.

But with regard to contributions, I just think you have to be very careful not to offend one group and to please another group.

SENATOR RANKIN:  Thank you, very much.  Two o'clock and not 1:45.  It's five till one now.  Ms. DeCillis, does that suit you?  Very good.  See y'all back at two.

And, Dr. Molnar, those are all of the questions that we have for you, I believe, save Senator Elliott.  But I don't think he'll have any. So I don't think you need to stick around, unless you've blocked off time to do so.  If you have, you're certainly welcome to hang around.

DR. MOLNAR:  I can do whatever you need me to do.  I can certainly use the time if you don't need me.  If you want me to stay, I'd be happy to stay.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  What you don't sit and listen to, I promise you, we'll send you a transcript if it's relevant to you.

DR. MOLNAR:  Okay.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Thank you.

(Recess from 1:00 p.m. to 2:17 p.m.)

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  You have already received the oath, but not by this court reporter, so --

DIAL DUBOSE, being duly sworn, testified as follows:

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  All right.  Actually, the last we met and talked under oath, I was asking questions.  Nancy Coombs is going to do it now and then there may be some more from various members of the subcommittee as they straggle in.  Welcome back.  Thank you for being here this morning.

MR. DUBOSE:  Thank you.

MS. COOMBS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

EXAMINATION BY MS. COOMBS:

Q.    Good afternoon, Mr. DuBose.

A.    Ms. Coombs.

Q.    Can you name five significant things, good, bad or indifferent, that has happened or that Santee Cooper has done over the time that you've served on the Board?

A.    Yes.  We have authorized probably the largest construction project in the history of this state.  We've permitted that project.  We have initiated a relicensing of our hydro-electric project, and we have refunded bonds and cut the cost of our funds substantially.  I couldn't give you exact numbers.  Is that five yet?  That's three?

We have announced a significant project with Georgetown County, the gypsum plant.  And we have, in conjunction with Palmetto Economic Development Corp., we have, I think it's 483 million dollars in investment in our service areas.  That's our partnership with the co-ops, Economic Development.  That would be five.

Q.    Okay.  With respect to the first one you mentioned, the largest construction project in the state, that Santee Cooper has authorized that, what was the Board's role in that?

A.    Advisory.  We heard -- the project had been -- in the utility business, you plan 20 to 25 years out.  And the project had been planned and we simply authorized it.

Q.    Okay.  So you didn't get involved into any decision-making or --

A.    We decided to go forward and we decided --

Q.    You authorized it, but you said it was a 25-year plan?

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    Okay.

A.    We could have not authorized it.

Q.    And what would have been the decision if you had chosen not to authorize it?  What would that have been based on?

A.    Well, there's some school of thought that may say we should buy that power elsewhere.  Well, actually, I believe that would be prohibited under our contract with Central.  But there was some question as to whether or not Santee Cooper should grow their generating assets, but the Board, of course, felt unanimously that we shouldn't.

Q.    And was there any kind of outside influence on whether to authorize it or not authorize it?

A.    No.

Q.    Okay.  And in relicensing the hydro-project, you mentioned that, what was the Board's role in that?

A.    No real role.  They just bring information before us and advise us, just to keep us informed.

Q.    And on the refunding of bonds, what was the role of Board?

A.    Authorization.

Q.    Okay.  And then you said that Santee Cooper announced a significant project, the gypsum project.  What was the Board's role in that?

A.    Approval.

Q.    Is that all the Board got involved with, with that project?

A.    There was some form -- technically, that's -- I'm not sure that they were working on the project.  There was some bantering going about, but I don't think it ever actually had impact on the project.

Q.    Were you here last week when we discussed the gypsum?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    And so you're familiar with the emails going back and forth about that?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    And I think we learned in that, that one of the directors had been contacted by the party that thought they were not going to get the deal?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    Do you know why U.S. Gypsum contacted that Board member?

A.    I have no idea.

Q.    Do you think it was appropriate for them to contact a Board member?

A.    No.  I don't think it was.

Q.    Do you think anyone told them it was not proper to contact a Board member?

A.    I don't know.

Q.    Well, that Board member, he didn't tell them, right?  I mean, didn't he pursue their interests there?

A.    Yes.  Well, he raised some questions.  I don't -- I don't know -- I don't know what the conversation was.

Q.    But you saw the emails?  Did you see the emails that were sent?

A.    Yes, uh-huh.

Q.    So if you had received a call from U.S. Gypsum or from somebody else involved in any other deal that Santee Cooper was involved with, you're saying that you would tell them that was inappropriate for them to contact a director as opposed to management?

A.    If somebody called me to initiate a project, I would pass that along to management.  If someone contacted me to editorialize on how they would be treated on a project, I would tell them it was improper.  But if I was contacted to start a project, I wouldn't hang up on them.

Q.    And if you look at some of the emails that were sent back and forth on that, would you agree with me that there seemed to be a kind of a feeling of mistrust of management in this respect, with respect to the American Gypsum deal?

A.    I understand how you would arrive at that, but I don't think it existed.  I think it was -- I can certainly see how you could read that into it.  I don't think there was a distrust on behalf of the Board members involved.

Q.    And I think this is one of the times that you said that you might have sent about four emails during all this time, but you received about 400, maybe?  Not in the Gypsum, but just over the time period?

A.    Right.

Q.    And I think this was one that you did send something on; do you recall that?

A.    Yes.

Q.    And I have heard that if you put things in all caps in an email, that's shouting or, you know --

A.    I heard that, too.

Q.    Okay.  And I think there was maybe some shouting with respect to this deal?

A.    Yeah.

Q.    And one of the directors, Richard Coen -- in fact, one director directed management not to sign the letter of intent with American Gypsum until -- well, he just says do not sign it, because the Board has not authorized anyone to sign anything regarding that.

From what I could gather, it was Mr. Coen that had actually started this, as Mr. Munson called it, a barrage of emails?

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    And you, in your email, you stated, Richard, I don't want you and Guerry to feel like you were alone in your concerns.  I, too, am frustrated about the information we receive and, more importantly, the information we don't receive, exclamation mark.  Communication or the lack there of is a problem I thought we put behind us.  Thank you for raising these issues.  The Board should be grateful for your vigilance.  Thanks, Dial.  Is that vigilance?

A.    Well, that comment was made early in the barrage.  That comment was not made, as you say, in the shouting.  That was made before the shouting.

Q.    Right.

A.    So I thought that the issues raised, as I recall, were certainly of interest and I was, at the time, glad they raised those issues.  And I felt like they were -- at that point, they were not -- they did not -- had not injected themselves into the deal when I made my comment.  So I don't apologize for my comment.

Q.    Okay.  Is it, at any time, appropriate for a director to get involved in, for lack of a better word, a deal with a company or industry to locate in South Carolina for Santee Cooper to bring a company to sell its gypsum, the by-product from their plants?  Is it, at any time, appropriate for a director to get involved in those economic development negotiations?

A.    No, it's not.

Q.    During that time, management, though, did have a meeting with the Board of Directors to explain what they did, and it's my understanding that after that, then management was authorized to sign the letter of intent with American Gypsum.  Is that only because management assuaged the concerns of the directors or did the directors decide at that time that that was something they should not get involved in?

A.    I would say all of the above.

Q.    If this were to happen again, would y'all go through the same kind of process again?

A.    No.  I would hope not.

Q.    So the appropriate level of involvement of the Board in these type of issues would be?

A.    Well, economic development is a moving target.  And I would hesitate to make a statement that would apply to all situations, but I think that the sidelines would be the appropriate place.  Cheering.

Q.    Okay.  And then you mentioned the, I think the last thing you mentioned of your five things was the 483 million dollars in investment done in conjunction with the co-ops with the Palmetto -

A.    Economic Development --

Q.    -- Economic Development Corporation?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    Can you tell us what that is?

A.    That is essentially a partner -- it's 486 million dollars of new investment and 4,842 new jobs and 53 megawatts of new electrical load.  That is a partnership between the cooperatives and Santee Cooper, specifically to do economic development in the service area of the co-ops.

Q.    And what's been your role with any of that?

A.    I'm a trustee of the corporation.

Q.    And how many trustees are there?

A.    There are -- I believe it's four trustees from each organization; our chairman, our president, and another Board member.  Actually, I think there's three.  I'm sorry.  But we share Board seats in equal numbers and the chairmanship rotates.

Q.    And so how long has Palmetto Economic Development been around?

A.    If I told you, I'd be guessing.  But I would guess ten years.

Q.    Okay.  So the role of the Board in that would be as a trustee?

A.    Well, it's a little more than trustee.  I'm not exactly sure what a trustee's role is.  However, in this instance, we vote to -- we have a pool of money and the cooperatives submit requests for matching funds, and this Board actually decides whether or not to match those funds.  So it's a little more in-depth.

Q.    And where do those funds come from?

A.    They are just -- they are budgeted items on our -- it's in our budget.

Q.    And how much is budgeted on an annual basis?

A.    Four million, five million.  I honestly don't know.

Q.    I'd like to ask you some questions about charitable contributions.  And I believe from your testimony last week, and I don't want to mischaracterize what you said, but I think you said something like, you felt uncomfortable spending the people's money?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    And last year, you served on the contributions committee and this year, you're chairman of it.  Do you know when Santee Cooper started giving money to charity?

A.    I imagine they've always given money to charity.  I would say 73 years ago.

Q.    Do you know why it became an issue of some concern or, I guess, a great deal of discussion at the Santee Cooper Board meetings over the last couple of years?

A.    Well, I think that the reason it came up is because there's a -- you know, we were all appointed.  Not all of us, but a majority of us at the time were appointed by Governor Sanford.  And I think the reason he would have appointed us was because we shared some common ideas, ideologies.  And that particular issue was an issue that was counter to the existing ideology that Santee Cooper had, so it became an issue.

Q.    So is that a way of saying that some of you didn't believe that charitable contributions were appropriate and Santee Cooper --

A.    Yes.

Q.    Okay.  And whose money is being given away?

A.    Well, it's really -- Santee Cooper kind of has two different pockets.  One pocket would be our direct-serve customers, Horry, Georgetown, and Berkeley Counties.  And that's what we call our direct-serve area.  And when we spend money in our direct-serve area, it comes out of almost another set of books.

And then we have our -- and I think our industrials would kind of be in that same category.  Then we have money where we spend money in our cooperative-serve areas, and that comes out of another set of funds, essentially.  Because the co-ops don't participate in money that we spend in our direct-serve area, but they do participate in the money that we spend elsewhere.  Does that make sense?

Q.    So are you saying it's the people that pay the bill, pay their electric bill?  Is that where it comes from?

A.    Yes.

Q.    Okay.  Has Santee Cooper ever received any complaints from customers, whether it's the co-op folks or the direct-serve customers, with respect to giving money to charity?

A.    I'm sure they have.  Or not giving.

Q.    Do you know whether they have or you just think?

A.    Well, I imagine that somebody has complained about something all the time, because there's a lot of that going on.

Q.    So has Santee Cooper then received complaints from somebody, saying, I don't want you to give my money to somebody, the Girl Scouts or, you know, the Grand Strand -- 

A.    Not to me directly.

Q.    Do you know whether Santee Cooper has ever canvassed its customers, sent a little note out in the bill, an insert, or done a sampling of their customers to say, what do you think about this?  Do you think it should continue or, you know, what do you think if we do away with it?  Has Santee Cooper ever asked its customers that?

A.    I don't know.  But I can tell you that I have served as a County Councilman in Pickens County and that there are no short supply of folks that are concerned about every nickel that gets spent on anything.  So I know that I could probably leave here and come back at six o'clock this afternoon with a truckload of people that were opposed to Santee Cooper making contributions, and no doubt in my mind about that.

Q.    But --

A.    But I've never --

Q.    -- the Board didn't ask anybody before?

A.    No.

Q.    Okay.  I know you attended the public hearing in Litchfield.  Did you hear any comments regarding charitable contributions at that hearing?

A.    Senator Mescher made a comment.

Q.    Anyone in attendance, any member of the public?

A.    I don't know.  There were some -- there may have been some school teachers there.  I don't remember specifically.  And I got there late.

Q.    Okay.  Were you in the audience at Moncks Corner?

A.    No, ma'am.

Q.    Well, I'd like to share a comment that a gentleman made during Governor Sanford's remarks.  He spoke up from the audience, actually.  And he stated -- and this was with respect to charitable contributions.  And he says, “we're talking about two or three million dollars.  We're talking about what, two or three million dollars.  So we're talking about Santee Cooper has a million some-odd customers throughout the system.  If they returned that two or three million dollars equally to the customers, it would be one or two cents on the bill.  So if I gave one or two cents to the Boy Scouts out there, it wouldn't help them much.  Collectively, it would help a lot of people but, individually, we would never see that one or two cents, so we would never give it anybody.  That's a little thing.”

So his numbers may not be accurate, but I think his point is that, given the little bit of money that he might save, that he wouldn't think to give it to a charity because it wouldn't probably, you know, be worth writing a check for.  He said it's not noticeable to him but, collectively, it would mean a lot of money to these people.  And I think what he's saying is that, he wants Santee Cooper to continue being a good corporate citizen and continue giving to the charities.  And I know that that's something that did not happen this year.  Y'all have a budget still for charitable contributions; that's right, I think.

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    But do you know what this year's budget is compared to last year for charitable contributions?

A.    I think it's -- we set aside $350,000 to give to education projects.  And we have some ongoing commitments that we've made multiple-year commitments for in years past that we're going to honor.  And I would -- I don't know -- I wouldn't hazard a guess at that.  But we have not budgeted any additional charitable contributions, other than we match our employees' United Way contributions.

Q.    And those are significant, aren't they?

A.    They are.  But we -- actually, we don't match Berkeley County dollar for dollar because it's too -- 

Q.    It's significant.

A.    Very significant.

Q.    Yeah.  I was impressed with the numbers on the United Way with the employee numbers.

A.    I was, too.  Well --

Q.    But the budget --

A.    The comment you made, the pennies.  I put myself in the situation that it's a state agency.  It's owned by the state of South Carolina and it's owned by the ratepayers.  And the Senate doesn't make charitable contributions and the Governor doesn't make charitable contributions out of the taxpayers' money.  And I view that in the exact same way.  I don't -- and it's easy for me to say that because I don't want to have to be the one that decides whether or not we give money to Ducks Unlimited or to the Wild Turkey Federation, you know.  Somebody is going to be mad if we only do one.

So it takes the burden off of me as a Board member just to say no to everybody.  Because I can't say yes to everybody.  You know, what makes me -- or I don't want to be put in a situation where I have to make those decisions, and so it's easier to say no.

Q.    So the 2004 budget still includes charitable contributions, but it's less than -- I mean, 2005.  Excuse me.  Less than 2004; is that accurate?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    Are you familiar with service areas with respect to electric utilities?

A.    A little bit.  Well, specifically, what do you mean?

Q.    Well, do you know how the state or --

A.    How territories are laid out?

Q.    Right.

A.    Well, I guess, there are assigned territories.  And then when you have an industrial load that exceeds a certain level, that they become fair game in undesignated territory.

Q.    Okay.  So if the state is divided into assigned territories and you have Duke Power that can serve a certain area -- I guess they serve up in your part of the state?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    And Progress Energy serves a certain area and SCE&G serves a certain area and Santee Cooper does, do you know -- did you see the exhibit the other day that showed the various levels of charitable contributions for the investor-owned utilities?

A.    No.  But I've seen some.

Q.    And I think they presented that to your Board and Santee Cooper was about a tenth of a percent of their total electric revenue, and it was the lowest of the bunch.

As I recall some of the discussions that went on with respect to charitable contributions in the emails, there seemed to be some discussion about other distressed areas in the state not getting the money that was going to some of the areas that Santee Cooper was supporting.  And I took it that maybe some of the directors thought that it wasn't appropriate to give to certain areas because y'all weren't giving to other areas, areas outside of Santee Cooper's territory or the electric co-ops, wherever the money was going; is that correct?  Was there some discussion about that; do you recall?

A.    I don't recall.

Q.    Do you know whether Duke Power contributes to anybody in the Santee Cooper service area?

A.    I'm sure there's somebody out there that gets an indirect benefit.

Q.    Okay.  So do you, personally, feel that Santee Cooper, that the charitable contributions that Santee Cooper makes is harmful to -- 

A.    I think it's bad policy.

Q.    It's bad policy?  Okay.  So what's going to happen with the money that is not contributed?  Are y'all going to reduce rates or --

A.    I would hope so.  Or reduce debt.

Q.    Last week when you testified before the subcommittee, and I'll say this is my impression -- but you seemed a little resentful of the rate that you pay to Combined Utilities.  I believe you said it was nine cents a kilowatt hour as compared to what Santee Cooper charges a resident?

A.    I wouldn't be -- I wouldn't call it resentful.  I just would say, in the scheme of fairness, there's an issue there that I don't -- but I don't -- it doesn't keep me up at night.

Q.    So who is Combined Utilities?

A.    That's the utility that's owned by -- well, it's a -- that's a utility that serves the city limits of Easley, South Carolina.

Q.    And do you know where Combined Utilities gets its power?

A.    They're a member of PMPA, which is Piedmont Municipal Power Association.  And that's an organization that owns a piece of a nuclear plant, Catawba.  And I believe they buy power from Southern Company under a contract.

Q.    And do you know the history behind PMPA?

A.    Yes.

Q.    So when was it created?

A.    I don't know that much history.  But they -- I think they were created to participate in that project, and I would guess that would be in the early '80s.

Q.    And who is PMPA?  What --

A.    It's a group of, essentially, upstate cities; Gaffney, York, Easley, Greer, Rock Hill.  I think there are nine cities.  I don't know all of them.

Q.    Okay.  And do you know how much PMPA issued in tax exempt bonds to be able to finance their interest in the Catawba nuclear station?

A.    I don't believe any of them were tax exempt.  I think they were -- either they all were or none of them were.  I can't -- I don't know, specifically.

But I think their problem came in that, the cost on that project just exceeded any estimate by three times, and they tried to manage that debt by refinancing and they got themselves in a situation where they're basically upside down.  They owe more on it than it's worth.

Q.    Okay.  They made a presentation to the Santee Cooper Board in January?

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    And so if we look at their presentation that they made, it was a Power Point presentation; is that what -- or did they just --

A.    Either that or they did a handout.  I don't know.

MS. COOMBS:  Mr. Chairman, I guess, I'd like to put this in the record.  And they do state that they issued 1.1 billion dollars of tax exempt bonds to finance its interest in the Catawba nuclear station, and that was in '84 and '85.

BY MS. COOMBS:

Q.    Is it also, or would you agree that PMPA's wholesale electric rates are not competitive and, in fact, they're probably the highest in the state and the retail rates of its customers are probably the highest in the state?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    And I believe that's what they report in their report to the Board.

Do you know how PMPA's monthly residential bills compare to those of the investor-owned utilities in this state, or to Santee Cooper's or other non-PMPA municipal utilities?

A.    I'd say they're at the high end.  I think they're certainly higher than Santee Cooper's.

Q.    And, I think, if you'd look in that same report -- and this is from 2002 numbers, according to what they've provided -- but they show in there on page 21 that PMPA's, the customer's monthly bill is, based on a thousand kilowatt hours, is $89.34.

Do you know if that has increased in the last three years?  Have you gotten a rate increase in your -- 

A.    They told me that they had to go up one percent a year from now on.

Q.    Well, these numbers are several years old.  And I believe that even if you look in the paper today, you'll find that SCE&G's rates have gone up to about $97 for a thousand kilowatt hours per month.  I think I read that in the paper in the last day or two.

I'm just curious what PMPA's purpose was for making this presentation to the Board.  Do you know what their purpose was?

A.    It was more -- I think, it was a multipurpose.  One is, they wanted to make us aware that if there was a situation that arose where we could participate and share in some economy of scale, number one.

Number two, I think, they wanted us to know what the situation was and that -- and the reason I think it was pertinent is because we were in the process of looking at a piece of Catawba that was going to be on the market, the piece that -- there's Saluda, which is five upstate co-ops that owned another piece of Catawba.  And that was going to be made available to the highest bidder, and they wanted to possibly explore a joint venture on that.

Q.    And has any decision been made on that?

A.    Yes.  It's not available anymore.

Q.    Okay.  Can PMPA legally purchase any energy from Santee Cooper?

A.    They can now.  There was some question as to whether they could, prior to the new legislation.

Q.    But --

A.    Now, they certainly can.

Q.    -- since Thursday, they can?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    And so that's with the passage of Act 573

SENATOR HUTTO:  Mr. Chairman, can I ask a question?

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Please.

SENATOR HUTTO:  Let's say PMPA did make a presentation at some point to pitch purchasing power from Santee Cooper, do you think that just because you're a rate payer of PMPA, that causes you a conflict?

MR. DUBOSE:  No.

SENATOR HUTTO:  I don't, either.  I just wondered if other members of the Board -- probably most of them don't get their power from Santee Cooper; is that right?

MR. DUBOSE:  That's right.

SENATOR HUTTO:  Okay.

BY MS. COOMBS:

Q.    I think, the other day, we heard from Mr. Gilreath about directors and rogue directors and directors who somebody is pulling their strings, someone other than, I guess, who should be pulling the strings of the director.  And I've looked at a lot of information and like Dr. Molnar said this morning, I've read a lot of news articles, too.  And I found some of interest, and I know you can't believe everything you read in the newspaper, but I did find one that was kind of interesting and it was a Post and Courier article, and they seem to be writing more about Santee Cooper than anybody.  It might take me a moment to find it.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, could we just take a one-minute break, just let the court reporter off and get these in order?

(Momentarily off the record)

EXAMINATION BY CHAIRMAN RANKIN:

Q.    Let's go back on.  While she's trying to retrieve that, I want to go back to your somewhat aversion, I think, to saying yes to some and saying no to others.  And I'm not trying to play a psychologist here, but it's kind of like being Solomon; you don't want to split the baby.

Is that a political philosophy, where you don't like controversy?

A.    No.  I like controversy.  It's an easy position to assume.

Q.    To say no?

A.    To say no.

Q.    And, therefore, you can be consistent with one group, maybe meritorious, as compared to the other that may not be?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    In the face of what you heard from Mr. Rainey the other day, and I think you were here, were you not, when we talked about --

A.    I didn't hear his -- I didn't hear the second day.

Q.    Well, the philosophy that, if the public utility of Santee Cooper were not there, someone else would be and it would be an investor-owned utility?

A.    Right.

Q.    And you have seen, I gather or hope -- if not, we will provide it for you -- what giving back the investor-owned utilities do within their service areas.  Have you seen those numbers?  Do you recall the handout from last week?

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    There were staggering amounts of giving back to the community.  Do you not see at all that Santee Cooper owes some duty to give back?

A.    I made the remark the last day I was here, that I thought it was a shame that they didn't make contributions.  But, you understand, they do get lower rates.  I think if you compare our rates to theirs, with the exception of Duke, they have lower rates.  And they have an opportunity -- they're a regulated agency and they get -- they are offsetting, or they include that in their cost and they pass that along to their consumers.  And that's sanctioned by the Public Service Commission.

But we don't have that layer.  And so when we're giving away money, we are literally taking it out of your pocket and putting it in somebody else's, which is different than Duke Power or SCANA.  It's different.

Q.    So that if -- and, again, the most talked about golf tournament that I've never been to in my life, the Heritage --

A.    See, I don't see that as a contribution.  That's a sponsorship.

Q.    So there are differences?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    All right. Well, what is a contribution and what's a sponsorship?

A.    A contribution is when you give money to a charitable organization.  A sponsorship is when you support an event.  Say, this -- but Santee Cooper is not a sponsor of the Heritage.  They -- you know, they had an event within the event.  See, that's not a sponsorship, either.  That was economic development.  And I'm not exactly sure where that money came from.

But a sponsorship would be Spoleto, you know, where they contributed to bring the event about.  I'm not sure that's not charity, either, now that I think about it.

Q.    Well --

A.    I'm not -- I can't -- I can't draw a line for you, but there is a line.

Q.    It may not be a bright line.

A.    It's not a bright line.

Q.    But, again, the sense that this is a huge deal belies the numbers here, doesn't it?  I mean, you'll agree with that, I guess.  1/100th of a percent --

A.    No.  It's 1/10th of one percent, isn't it?

Q.    Maybe.  A billion dollars in sales, 1.8 million at its height was the contribution sponsorship, economic development effort --

A.    No.  I --

Q.    -- or are those different?

A.    I believe they're different.  But I couldn't -- I wouldn't stand up here and swear to it.

Q.    As the chairman of the Contributions Committee, you are or you were?

A.    I am.  I was not when this issue -- we have not had a Contribution Committee since I was chairman of the committee.

Q.    And that's been how long?

A.    Five -- four or five months.

Q.    The policy that was much in the press -- and, again, we talked about this last week -- y'all were taken to the woodshed, at least the headline in Charleston read that.  I think, was it not over this subject of contributions, sponsorships.  Was that the --

A.    Well, we had a list and it was four or five pages of like the Booster Club of A.R. Louis Elementary School, a hundred dollar golf tournament.  And there was just literally dozens of them.  And he raised that issue.

Q.    The Governor raised that?

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    Is that a contribution or is that a sponsorship, and do you take a different position on the Heritage versus the high school Booster Club that you've just mentioned?  Again, hypothetically speaking.

A.    There's a difference.

Q.    Well, what's that difference?

A.    That's a great question.  If you are going to sponsor a golf tournament that is going to bring in industry -- let's say an industry appreciation breakfast or an industry appreciation golf tournament, that's a sponsorship, you know.  The Troop 45 of the Boy Scouts has, you know, a 5K run, I would call that -- I'd call that a contribution.

But I don't know -- there is a definition in there and we've got folks that just, you know, that make those calls, what's a contribution and what's a sponsorship.

Q.    And, again, my numerous questions suggests something that I think most speakers have identified that it's not, but your answer suggests to me that it is a big deal.

A.    Well, when you say a big deal, what do you mean?

Q.    Well --

A.    It's consumed a lot of conversation and a lot of time.

Q

And the question asked of you and others, should it have been consumed this much time?

A.    No.  No.

Q.    As chairman of this committee, are y'all, or were you trying to formulate some policy that distinguishes and creates a bright line between economic development and charitable contributions or is that in place now?

A.    That's in place.

Q.    The executive staff or management -- 

A.    We don't have -- we haven't even -- 

Q.    -- does that now or --

A.    Yes.  We've got -- the corporate secretary manages that process.  And he's got a budget and most of it's been worked out with the CEO at that level.  And I don't think the Board gets involved in those sponsorship issues or economic development issues.  They get involved in the charitable issues.

Q.    As chairman of that committee, then, you're going to be deciding whether the Girl Scouts gets a hundred bucks or --

A.    Well --

Q.    We've heard about all kind of things over the last few months.  Is that something your committee is going to be looking at and --

A.    The Contribution Committee takes up issues, I think, of either five or ten thousand and above.  And we made a decision in the budget process, and those were already -- those were submitted as a part of the budget and they were outlined specifically what we were and were not going to contribute to.  So it was adopted as part of the budget.

Q.    There was a number reported that that level of contributions, again, sponsorship, however y'all lumped this money, was reduced $700,000 in my -- 

A.    It was reduced.  And I don't know if that's the right number, but it was reduced significantly.

Q.    Okay.  Did that also include the cost of being a member of various associations that -- 

A.    I don't think so.

Q.    Okay.  So those have continued on?

A.    Yes.

Q.    All right.  So if someone is asking me about Dial DuBose and they say, this guy is against economic development, he's against hosting something or sponsoring something that will generate industry or attraction to the direct-serve areas, for example, I can report to them that that is not correct?

A.    Yes.

Q.    You support economic development?

A.    Yes.

Q.    Okay.

SENATOR MESCHER:  Mr. Chairman, while we're on this, and the contribution has been beaten to death, I think.

EXAMINATION BY SENATOR MESCHER:

Q.    But, Mr. DuBose, I can't see the difference between a Boy Scout troop in Santee Cooper territory and a Boy Scout troop in Duke territory.  I can't see a difference between someone who's paying their electric bill in Santee Cooper territory versus E&G territory.

And, you know, you and I are at the opposite ends of the teeter totter on the contribution.  But I can't see the philosophy that, just because a Boy Scout troop is organized in Moncks Corner, they can't get a contribution, while if organized in Summerville, it could.  What is the philosophical difference between those two? 

A.    Well, the common thread is that we don't make a contribution to either one of them.  The difference would -- you're saying that Duke makes a contribution to a Boy Scout troop in their territory, then our Boy Scouts should be entitled to a contribution from their utility.  And I agree with you, but that's unfortunate.

And I would simply say that they enjoy an efficient, well-run utility that has cheaper rates.  I know those boys don't care what the power bill is, but that's the only way I can justify it.

Q.    Mr. DuBose, I keep hearing the cheap rates that Santee Cooper has, and it's in all the newspapers, all the articles, the cheap rates Santee Cooper has.  You know, they're not the cheapest.  Duke Power is cheaper residentially, commercially, industrially --

A.    I'm not --

Q.    Well, I'm just taking it from your August 2004 perspectus for bonds, and they beat Santee Cooper all over.  So Santee Cooper does not enjoy cheap rates, so --

A.    Well, you understand, that's a moving target.

Q.    Oh.  It changes all the time.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    And they're all above Santee Cooper now, I think.  Another thing, and I hesitate to bring it up, it seems odd to me -- and I talked to Guerry Green about it -- the Board members go to APPA.  They take their wives.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  What is that, the APPA?

SENATOR MESCHER:  The American Public Power Association.  I go to it, also.

BY SENATOR MESCHER:

Q.    And it runs, from my recollection, it runs probably three to 4,000 a Board member, at least.  And there are eleven of them.  So we're about $50,000 a year to take your wife and you and go.  And, you know, I got to those things, too.  And I seldom see a Board member in a meeting.  I hope they've changed that.

Some Board members, and maybe all of them, go to the co-op convention.  I know Mr. Green and some others went.  I think that's paid by Santee Cooper, also.

It bothers me that the Board members come back -- and I talked to Mr. Green about this -- come back where Santee Cooper has paid $50,000 for a mini vacation, and then you eliminate a hundred dollar a year donation to a Boy Scout troop in Moncks Corner.  That bothers me, that there's a philosophy you can't support a Boy Scout troop, but it's okay to use state money, you say, and I say it's rate payer money, to go to these events.

Well, isn't there some -- and you should go to those events.  You should, and attend the meetings.  I go to them myself.  I'll be at Anaheim and you may be there.  I think it's a good session.  But I don't see the logic that will say the rate payer in Moncks Corner can pay to send the Board to Anaheim, but can't afford a hundred dollars a year for their Boy Scout troop.  That's the philosophy that I can't grasp.

A.    Well, I would say that we go to those meetings to work on relationships with our bond underwriters, with our -- we have dinner with General Electric.  We have educational sessions.  And it's more of a public relations customer -- in the co-ops, it's certainly a customer service issue where they like to get to know their Board members.

But I can tell you that I enjoy it because I like that sort of thing.  But my wife, I have to drag her there.  And so -- and it's time I spend away from my family.  I really don't see it as a vacation.  I see it as part of my obligation to be a good Board member.

And I can say that I'm not going to Anaheim.  I feel a little guilty about not going.  But I didn't see it as an opportunity to take a vacation on the ratepayers.  And I know you worked there and I work there, but I don't see it as a vacation.  But I'm not saying I don't enjoy it.

MS. COOMBS:  Mr. Chairman, I apologize, but I had left my article next to my computer.  But I do have a little bit of a follow-up on the contributions thing before we get back to that.

REEXAMINATION BY MS. COOMBS:

Q.    I just started following what had been happening recently with Santee Cooper.  And, as I stated earlier, you know, I read a bunch of newspaper articles and, you know, you don't know if you get the whole story or, you know, accurate.  But one of the articles that I read, it was just published a couple of weeks ago on May the 2nd, and I found it kind of interesting.

It's under the title, Charleston Chef Turns in Apron at Las Vegas Resort, but there are quite a few little bits of information under that.  And under one entitled, Mr. Electricity, it notes that Graham Edwards, whom Mark Sanford unceremoniously dumped out of Santee Cooper's chairman seat in December, has another Board under his watch.  And it goes on to say that he's been elected chairman of the Midwest ISO.  Do you know what that is?  Do you know what the Midwest ISO is?

A.    No, ma'am.

Q.    Do you know what an independent transmission system operator is?

A.    No, ma'am. 

Q.    Do you know what a regional transmission organization is?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    Okay.  And what is that?

A.    It's a group of utilities that get together and agree on, or make available their transmission lines to each other.  I would assume that's what it is.

Q.    Okay.  So Midwest independent transmission system operator is a transmission system operator.

A.    Okay.

Q.    Like a regional transmission organization.  And Mr. Edwards, apparently, has been elected as chairman of that.  But, apparently, whoever wrote this article, contacted Guerry Green or Richard Coen and he reports that both Guerry Green, Edwards' replacement, and Richard Coen, another director, both said Edwards was a disruptive and heavy-handed chairman.  Which I'm not here to, you know, defend Mr. Edwards or agree with their -- but, anyway, it says not all of the directors agree with that characterization.

And here's the point that I found interesting:  But Edwards ultimately got the boot when he cast the decisive vote to uphold the utility's policy on charitable contributions weeks after Sanford scolded Santee Cooper about its philanthropy for the second time in two years.

And, I guess, my question is, the Board can eliminate all charitable contributions by just not approving a budget that includes a line item for that; is that correct?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    Okay.  And you've stated that you would prefer to do away with all charitable contributions.  Is that what you just stated a few minutes ago?

A.    I didn't say that.  I think that we should -- I think we have an obligation to our employees to match their United Way contribution.

Q.    But other than that, you would do away with it?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    Okay.  And that's because of your philosophy prior to Governor Sanford asking you to serve on the Board?

A.    No.  When I first got on the Board, I'm sure you could go back in the record and find out where I've voted for some contributions.  And the debate, as it took place, my -- I've formulated my present philosophy since I've been on the Board.

Q.    And how has it changed?

A.    Well, I -- you know, it's -- when I first got on the Board, I thought it was an awful lot of fun passing out other people's money.  And then as I heard the debate, I changed my mind.

Q.    Did the Governor's position on it influence your change?

A.    Not specifically.  If the Governor had an issue, it may not have come up as an issue.  So for me to say it didn't have any impact would be probably incorrect.  But he never called me and said, hey, quit giving away money and I never said okay.

Q.    Okay.  The article I was going to get to a few minutes ago is also a Post and Courier article that was published on August 25th, 2004.  It's entitled, Discordant Note Struck at Utility.  And where, I guess, I was going here was, who's in charge or who's pulling the strings.

In that article, Mr. Stocks says, the directors, charged with leveraging the Utility's assets for the state's benefit, accused Carter and other Santee Cooper managers of withholding information on real estate sales and economic development negotiations at their monthly meeting.

And then, you know, on the second page of the article, it states -- well, Director Richard Coen is quoted as saying, when you're talking about the land sales, the transfer of 13 million to the state and the land sales, and it's in, I guess, in conjunction with the Board voting to get qualifications about real estate brokers who are interested in marketing the properties that were identified as surplus.  And Director Coen states, I don't think we're micro-managing here.  We just want to do the job we were sent here to do.

And I'm curious about what job the directors were sent there to do.  If he's talking about micro-managing and using real estate brokers and the transfer of the 13 million to the state, were y'all given directions from the Governor when he appointed you to do any particular job?

A.    Not me.

Q.    Also, I think, during the discussion on contributions the other day, I pointed out some emails and it appeared that Director Green was really concerned about not knowing that the Governor had expressed an opinion on contributions.  And we've already got this in the record, but on October the 6th, he stated that those not attending the budget meeting with the Governor last year, were denied the message that the Governor wanted the Board to hear.  If the Governor and his staff made it clear that we should address contributions, sponsorships, and, et cetera, then the Board as a whole was done a great disservice by not hearing that message.

And I think there were other emails, that we've been directed to do certain things, and I'm just wondering where the Board gets its directions.  If it's not direct, are y'all getting indirect pressure to make sure certain decisions?

A.    Well, the Governor was elected by the people of South Carolina, and he then appointed me to Santee Cooper.  And I can tell you honestly that, since my appointment with the Governor, I've had one conversation with him.  And that conversation was, do you have a direction that you want to see Santee Cooper go in?  He said, no.  I want you to just ask questions.  And I that's all I've done.  And I feel an obligation when -- I can remember when I was on County Council and they would ask me to appoint people to the Zoning and Variance Board.  I certainly would pick somebody that thought like I did, and somebody that felt like would -- that knew where I stood and would at least take that into consideration when they cast a vote.  So I would extend that to my appointment to Santee Cooper.

Now, the Governor doesn't think for me and he certainly doesn't vote -- I don't vote for him.  But I certainly take his viewpoint into consideration.  But he never directed me to do any single act, other than to ask questions.  Does that not seem fair to you?

Q.    Well, is Santee Cooper a part of the Cabinet?

A.    That's a good question.  I would have to ask you that.  I mean, that would be a matter of statute, wouldn't it?

Q.    Do you attend any Cabinet meetings?

A.    I've been invited to attend Cabinet meetings.

Q.    Okay.

A.    We don't have a seat at the table.  We sit on the periphery.

Q.    So have you attended a Cabinet meeting?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    How many?

A.    One.

Q.    And who else has attended a Cabinet meeting from the Board?

A.    Chairman -- then Chairman Green.

Q.    Did anybody attend a Cabinet meeting prior to Chairman Green?

A.    I think, Chairman Edwards attended one.

Q.    Have y'all made a presentation at the Cabinet?

A.    No, ma'am.

Q.    Have you been involved in any of the discussions, were you asked questions or anything?

A.    No, ma'am.

Q.    Do you know why you were there?

A.    To be available to answer questions and to see what's going on.  And, I think, it's important that we know -- that the right hand knows what the left hand is doing.

Q.    With the Cabinet members --

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    -- you're there to know what's going on with other Cabinet agencies, or with Cabinet agencies?

A.    Yes, ma'am.

Q.    How many other Boards or Commissions are invited to the Cabinet meetings?

A.    I'm not in charge of the list.  I have no idea.  But there are an awful lot of people sitting around in the room.

Q.    Okay.  If we move on to the Freedom of Information Act --

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Let me interrupt you, if I may.  When you were invited to the Cabinet meetings, was it on behalf of -- I mean, in your role as a director at Santee Cooper or as an individual?

MR. DUBOSE:  I was vice-chairman and the chairman called me and said, I need you to help me.  The Governor wants us to be at these Cabinet meetings, or would like for us to be at these Cabinet meetings, and I can't go to all of them.  I want you to go with me to one and fill in for me when I can't go in the future.  So I basically went to find out -- I assume, just to find out where it was and just -- 

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Was that -- 

MR. DUBOSE:  So I could pinch hit in the future.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  When was that, if you recall?  Would that --

MR. DUBOSE:  That would have been in April, maybe.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Of?

MR. DUBOSE:  April of '05.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Two months ago,  or a month ago?

MR. DUBOSE:  Yes.  Well, then, maybe it was -- it seems like it was three months ago.  Maybe it was March.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  In '04, did you go to any Cabinet meetings?

MR. DUBOSE:  No.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  In '03?

MR. DUBOSE:  No.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  You were confirmed May of '03 -- or June of '03 by us, I believe; is that right?

MR. DUBOSE:  '02.  No.  '01.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  '03.

MR. DUBOSE:  '03?  Okay.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  It seems like --

MR. DUBOSE:  It seems like a long time.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  When you went to that Cabinet meeting, was the chairman called on to make a presentation or were you, or was it just more of an accommodation or a tipping of the hat, respect-wise, that y'all would be included?

MR. DUBOSE:  I think there was -- there's been a standing invitation to the chairman to be at them, and there was some -- that Chairman Green was concerned that nobody from Santee Cooper had been going and he felt that somebody from Santee Cooper needed to be there.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

BY MS. COOMBS:  

Q.    Did y'all get paid to go there?  Does this count as one of your meetings?  You get paid for your meeting.  You get $10,000 as a director and then so much per meeting?

A.    We max out.  We max out before six months are up.  But I don't think so.  I don't think --

Q.    What has been the Board's practice when it decides to conduct the public's business in public or in private?  How do you make that decision?

A.    We -- until I heard the attorney, Mr. Bender, make the comments that he made, I was of the impression that we had strictly adhered to the Freedom of Information Act.  And I'm, personally, am sensitive to it because my previous service as a County Councilman.  And have, not considered myself an expert, but considered myself vigilant in not breaking any of the Freedom of Information Act guidelines.

So having said that, when he made his remarks, I was surprised.  And I would say that anybody that operates under the Freedom of Information Act that goes to that extent to follow the guidelines, I would be -- I've never been exposed to that, to state specifically what issues you're going to discuss in executive session, is what I'm talking about.

Q.    So in any other public body that you've been a member or served on, you've never stated a specific --

A.    I've never done that.  And I've been under Mr. Bender's scrutiny before, also.  He's a watchdog and he's monitored other activities I've been involved with, and not found fault, I don't believe.

Q.    Are you aware that the Freedom of Information Act, the provision that allows a public body to hold a meeting closed to the public says that it -- or does the public body have to hold a closed meeting?

A.    No.  Well, yes, they do -- well, I think you have to discuss personnel issues or receive legal advice and discuss contracts.  That would be common sense, I would think.

Q.    Common sense, but --

A.    Well, if you and I were negotiating a contract on me buying your house, I wouldn't want to hold a public meeting on what I was -- what my max limit would be or where I would stop negotiating.  That would be counterproductive.

Q.    Were you here or, I guess, you heard Mr. Bender say that a discussion regarding the Board taking a position on S-573 was not proper for a closed meeting.  Did you hear him say that?

A.    And I disagreed with him.  We were receiving legal advice.

Q.    What was the legal advice?  I mean, on other to respond or not?  I'm not asking you what the advice was, but –

A.    No.  Well, the legal advice would be what the implications of the law was, I'm assuming.

Q.    Well, maybe a little skinny or a session on FOIA might be helpful to the Board.

A.    No question about it.

Q.    Receiving legal advice is where legal advice relates to a pending, threatened or potential claim or matters covered by the attorney/client privilege.  Do you think that legislative matter would fall within that?

A.    I thought it did at the time.

Q.    I just have a couple of questions about strategic planning.  I know when I was reading through some of the information, it appeared that management was trying to get the Board to get involved in strategic planning.  And I know that at one point, I read that you stated that you had read the strategic plan and you thought that, at that time, that you really didn't need to change anything but you thought it should be used as an educational tool.  And it 21   appeared that that was on the horizon, but I don't 22   recall seeing whether the Board had ever really met on strategic planning.  Has that happened yet?  Has the Board had any sessions on strategic planning?

A.    No.

Q.    Do you know if it's scheduled to come up?

A.    Yes.  I think it's -- it keeps getting moved.  It's the -- you know, our schedule fills up and it's one of the casualties.

Q.    What do you think would be appropriate to address at strategic planning?

A.    I think, what I felt like from -- I think the Board needs education on certain issues, and FOIA being one of them.  I think it needs -- I don't think the majority of the Board clearly understands our contract with Central, the coordinating agreement, and I think we need to spend a lot of time on that so that we can better understand what's driving Santee Cooper's ship, and that's a major part of it.

But as far as strategic planning goes, the forecast is in place and it's manipulated by external factors, not so much the Board, but by demand issues.  So I think from a -- for us to say we're going to have a strategic plan, you know, it's going to come back to, we want to be an efficient utility and we want to be environmentally friendly, and we want to have a low credit rating, or a good credit -- a high credit rating.

So I don't see why we should go through a process where we spend six months to spit out a carbon copy of the last strategic planning.  I think we need to have an education process so that we can all be up to speed on what's important to Santee Cooper.

Q.    I've read some articles recently, and I don't have a specific one here, but I've read some that talked about these hearings and some things that have come out that might indicate some behavior by directors that may have been inappropriate.  But the articles that I've read have indicated that the reporter spoke to the directors involved and they say, we haven't done anything wrong.  And if there are things that we've brought out here with respect to -- and I know you said last week, you didn't want to comment on other directors' behavior -- but if there are things, such as meeting with representatives of Drummond Coal and Maybank Shipping because they contacted a director, or U.S. Gypsum contacting a director because they're sore losers, or whatever the deal turned out to be, or problems with not adhering to the Freedom of Information Act and they don't think they've done anything wrong, but other people believe that that was micro-managing or -- I don't know what the final say in the U.S. Gypsum and American Gypsum thing was, but the fact is that probably was another issue of micro-managing in allowing other people outside the Board to influence Board behavior, and they don't recognize that they might have done anything inappropriate, how do you correct that kind of behavior to -- if it's inappropriate, not to allow it to happen in the future?

A.    Well, go back to that education process.  I mean, I don't agree with a lot of the things that have happened.  The Drummond Coal issue, I don't see that as being improper.  I think it's -- I think if I have -- I would say to you, why would the chairman of AT&T want the chairman of City Corp to be on his Board?  I think that I'd say, obviously, he's a pretty bright fellow, but he also has some great contact.

I think it's one of your obligations as a Board member to bring your contacts to the group.  And I think one of the directors had a friend and he said, I might have a solution to some of your problems.  And so he brought -- it's not like it was a secret meeting.  There were members of Santee Cooper's staff, executive level, at the meeting.  I don't have a problem with that.

Now, the other issues, maybe had they had more information, could have acted otherwise.  But I don't think anybody ever did anything that they thought was not in Santee Cooper's best interest.  I think, a hundred percent, they felt like they were doing what was best.  And if that was the test they used, I think that's why they felt like they hadn't done anything wrong.  But if you'd go back to my comment earlier, in education, if we had laid out those things early on in the education process, we would probably have avoided some of those.

Q.    Also, I read early on, on November 25th, 2003, and this was also introduced in the record the other day, an email from Director Coen to the Governor.  And he's talking about the Board meeting where the Board voted on the first resolution in November 2003, which was later rescinded in December.  The December resolution was to transfer 13 million dollars to the state.

Anyway, that was the email where he says that we had an infelicitous Santee Cooper Board meeting and Chairman Edwards crammed down a resolution that the Board had not agreed on, and it was a five to five vote without the chairman.  Graham cast the swing vote.  And he says in the next sentence, this was a very dangerous tactic and we now have a divided Board.

Wasn't the Board divided when it was five to five?  Isn't that a division, and not the six to five?  And was he just -- he just didn't like not winning his position there or something?

A.    I wish you'd ask him and not me.

Q.    Well, he's not here.  But the fact is, you were on his side, too.  You were one of the five that voted against the resolution.

A.    Oh.  I thought I was on my side.

Q.    Well, I mean, on the side of division -- 

A.    Right.

Q.    -- that he talked about.

A.    Well, I voted -- I think, if you -- there's a couple of those votes, I was on the other side, too.  I mean, I thought that Santee Cooper -- I didn't have a problem with Santee Cooper selling the surplus property and giving the proceeds to the state.

Q.    But you didn't like the first resolution?

A.    I don't think I -- I don't remember -- I read what you read, and I think that there was an amendment to that resolution that I didn't like.

Q.    Do you have any idea how many coal companies there are that try to get business with Santee Cooper, try to sell Santee Cooper coal?

A.    I have no idea.

Q.    Do you know how Santee Cooper decides whether to buy certain coal?  What do they do to just make that decision?

A.    Well, coal has to be of a certain quality and it has to be transportable, efficiently transportable.

Q.    So you don't know how many people Drummond is competing against to sell coal to Santee Cooper?

A.    I have no idea.

Q.    So, then, would it be appropriate for all of those other companies to go to a director to try to get a meeting to push their coal?

A.    The coal wasn't the issue.  We had some coal companies that had quit shipping us coal.  And that was going on with other utilities, as well.  And so, then, the trains got backed up.  And we were in almost an emergency -- I would consider it a crisis.  We were nearly in a crisis on our stockpile.  It was like down to nine days, which is very serious.  And it was -- and then we had a lot of conversation about it.  And this was an alternative transportation mode.  They were going to bring this in from offshore, and that's what made it attractive.  It wasn't so much a coal deal as it was a transportation deal, because our present situation is very limited.

Q.    So my original question was, would it be appropriate for other coal companies or shipping companies to approach a director and ask for a meeting to discuss their -- 

A.    I don't think -- I think, if a coal company just went to the company website and picked somebody at random, I think that would be inappropriate.  But this was a friend of a Board member that had a possible solution to a very, very serious problem that we were facing in the utility.  We were in --

Q.    So if it's a friend of a Board member, it's okay?

A.    Well --

Q.    Is that what --

A.    No, I didn't say that.  What I said was, it was an existing contact.  The Board member didn't go out and solicit this fellow and say, hey, let's make a deal with Santee Cooper.  The guy said, hey, did they mention to you that we have a possibility of barging coal in there?  And he said, no.  He said, well, do you think you could get us a meeting?  Sure.  Now, that, I don't find that improper.

MS. COOMBS:  Mr. Chairman, there have been a few things that I have mentioned that I don't have fifteen copies of that we've made.  But I would like to make them part of the record and we'll provide copies to everyone.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do you have any more questions at this point?

MS. COOMBS:  I think that's all, Mr. DuBose.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Okay.  Anybody?  Senator Mescher, Senator Elliott, any questions at this point or -- I have a couple of follow-ups, and my follow-up might not be three questions, it might be six.  So if you've got two, either one of you --

SENATOR MESCHER:  I've just got one or two.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Fire away.

REEXAMINATION BY SENATOR MESCHER:  

Q.    Mr. DuBose, my interest in the problems at Santee Cooper started a little less than two years ago when employees started coming to me and bringing me interesting emails.  And, I think, probably the reason we're going through this agonizing detail is because a lot of employees contacted me, and I think they contacted Senator Rankin and what have you, and I'm told that the employee morale at Santee Cooper now is arguably as low as it's ever been.  And most of these emails I've got include -- involve five people and you're one of them.

But I must commend you on the good, common horse sense of not sending out a lot of emails.  Not a single email I got was sent by you.  You were in receipt of all of them.  So my assumption is that you were in that group because of your philosophical or ideologies must have been similar to theirs or you would not have continued as that group.  So I want to delve a little bit into employee/Board relationships.

Were you aware that all of these emails were going, flashing on the screen at Santee Cooper, that sophisticated employees could read these things?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    You did know it, then?  Now, a lot of these -- and some of them, I will not read -- but I see no one of the five directors, not a single one of them, ever disputing that, maybe we shouldn't be saying these things.

Now, for example, let's go through Graham Edwards.  Here's an email calling Edwards a bastard.  Now, was that shared by the group of five or was that just the sender?  This was sent by Richard Coen and you were in receipt of it.  Was that the thought?  Was that opinion shared by the five?  Was that your opinion?

A.    No, sir.

Q.    I was not your opinion?  I was in with another Senator when a Board member accused Graham Edwards of a federal crime, and that was the opening of letters of President Tiencken.  Had you heard that story, that Graham Edwards was opening, or passed on that story to anybody?

A.    No, sir.

Q.    You did not?  And this was said in public.  I've got another email here that says, the removal of the past chairman was in no way political, rather a response to a request by a majority of the Board members.  Were you a part of that majority?

A.    He's saying that we voted?

Q.    This is a letter from Richard Coen.  It seems Richard was running the Board.  I mean, most of these emails are from Richard Coen.  It was the subject, San Diego, Tuesday, dinner; written March 4th, 2005, 3:19 p.m.  Fellow Board members, and it's talking about going to a wonderful dinner at the Greystone Steak House, all that sort of thing. But he's saying -- again, and I'm reading -- that the Governor's decision removing the past chairman was in no way political, but rather a response to a request by a majority of Board members.

A.    I would not agree with that statement.

Q.    You would not agree with that?  I've got another one.  It happened to be myrtlebeachonline.com.  It's an article in the Sun News where Graham Edwards is accused of suggestions to the Governor that the study to sell Santee Cooper should be made.  And I've got here, it says, Green said he was there and remembers the same thing, that Graham instigated this study.  Rainey has admitted that he started the study.  Was it your opinion that Graham started the study?

A.    The only reason I say that is because when Graham came back -- well, and I'm not trying to avoid the answer, but we may have been in executive session so I'm not sure what I can and can't say.

Q    The reason I'm bringing this up is, Santee Cooper employees are reading this, where directors are attacking their leader, calling him a bastard, accusing him of all sorts of things he did not do, proven to be incorrect.  And that leads to not respecting those directors when they attacked their leader like that.

Here's another one.  Graham, where is your leadership?  I'm not going to let management screw up and then blame the Board.  Your silence is deafening.  Santee Cooper employees are reading this about their leadership.  And when I was there, we held the Board of Directors in high esteem, and I don't see how you can expect employees to respect you when you're sending this out over the emails.

Here's another one.  Certain Board members and employees that are operating in stealth mode will be exposed and they will regret their negative and counterproductive activities.  It will take time; however, the sun will shine on Santee Cooper at some point in the future.  There may be some big storms rolling through.  First to cleanse and redress the institution, but time will take care of things.  And this is all from your group of five.  Again, employees get a little shook up when they see things like that.

Moving on to John West.  Here's one that the employees were reading on the email.  John West, you in particular need to focus on your role in the Board meetings.  Do not leave us hanging or not follow our directions.  We would appreciate your support.  And shortly after that, John West resigned.

And I think there was the one -- here's a response.  Lonnie says, I appreciate that I serve at the Board's pleasure.  I believe that I have been fully forthcoming with all members of the Board and have been open to change and new ideas.

Throughout here, I get the idea that the Board is complaining that management is not keeping them informed.  Yet, I have email here that indicated that four of you got together at Coen's plantation, whatever it was, and discussed Board action and, what have you, without informing the Board of any of these meetings.  Didn't you have more than one meeting?

A.    I never had a meeting.

Q.    You did not go to a meeting?

A.    I was invited --

Q.    But you did not attend?

A.    -- to go when Mr. Carter was first made president.  I was invited to go and wasn't able to go.

Q.    You did not go?

A.    No, sir.  I don't think anybody went.  I don't think it happened.  I think Lonnie went -- I think Mr. Carter went hunting with Director Coen, but I think that's the only one.

Q.    Okay.  You might have been fortunate not to go.  This meeting was Coen, Davis, DuBose, Green, and Munson, I think.  And no one went, then, right?

A.    Not that I know of.  I didn't go.  I don't think anybody else did.

Q.    Here's one, and maybe you can explain what it means.  This is to Graham, Lonnie, Bill, John, and Elaine.  Stop making Board decisions unilaterally without the benefit of the Board's knowledge and opinion and opening our decision.  The next meeting is a very important meeting for you all.  What does a statement like that mean?

A.    I have no idea.

Q.    What I'm getting at, you seem to have no trust in management, whatsoever.

A.    Well, you are using those emails to draw opinions on me when I didn't make any of them --

Q     No.  I'm saying -- 

A.    -- Senator.

Q.    -- in the beginning, Mr. DuBose, that I assume that since you were in this group, you had the same ideology and philosophy.  And I see nothing that you said, let's don't do this, let's don't attack our management.  And I'm concerned that that's a reason you've got such poor morale there.

A.    In retrospect, I wish I had tried to quell some of that.  It was an unfortunate situation, but it was a very, very small minority of the Board.  And I didn't think that it was ever intended for public consumption.

Q.    That's the reason I asked, did you know it was going out across the screens.

A.    Well, the thing about an email is, it's eternal.

Q.    That's right.  That's right.

A.    But I think it's unfair to take the actions of a few and apply them to all.  Now, I'm not saying that I didn't agree with some of the base issues that were being brought, but I -- and I wish that they had not been sensationalized, if you understand what I'm saying.  And I don't think that they were -- it's just that I wish we weren't -- of course, I wish we weren't having this conversation right now.  But it did happen and I was in a position to perhaps slow it down and I should have.  But, again, I don't think that person ever had anything other than Santee Cooper's best interest at heart.

Q.    I have dozens of these.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    And I don't want to bore you with them.  It seems there is a lack of confidence in the Board.  Here's one about Bill McCall.  I don't believe that a 3 billion dollar Fortune 500 Company could get gamed by Bill McCall.  Sorry, Bill, you're good, but not that good.  They're wanting to get a consultant.  And this is involving the U.S. Gypsum deal.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    You didn't want the -- you didn't think -- at least, somebody didn't think Santee Cooper was competent enough to negotiate this deal and you wanted to get an outside consultant and threw out yours. But let's get so and so, and I don't know whether that so and so was involved in any Board member.  But, again, it shows a lack of confidence, I think in the ability of the Board.

A.    That was not the case, not the Board as a whole.

Q.    All right.  I want to move a little bit to the land sale and what seemed to go wrong between the Board and management.  As I recall, Santee Cooper had a procedure for land and how land was sold and how its purchased and what have you.  And the land -- and I think Denton Lindsey heads up that group, and he has sent out some bids.

Now, I'm given the story that he followed, to the letter, the Santee Cooper policy as to bidding.  Now, when he sent out the bids, was he acting under the existing Board-approved policy?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    He was?  And then I understand the policy changed but not at a Board meeting, but at a luncheon at Wampee.  Some directors sitting around a table decided to change the procedure.

A.    No, sir.  That didn't happen.

Q.    That did not happen?

A.    No, sir.  I read that.

Q.    And I thought we had some testimony that that happened.  All right.  Now, we'll take your word for it, it didn't happen.

A.    I can clarify that, if you'd like me to.

Q.    Okay. 

A.    We were in the midst of a Board meeting.  I believe we were having a Property Committee meeting and we were discussing the best strategy on how to sell the surplus property.  And the issue came up that we had this property in Litchfield that was a Blue Chip property, if you will.  And we had dozens of other small parcels that were certainly of value, but nothing approaching the value of this Blue Chip property.  And we had another Blue Chip property at Little River.

And we were discussing whether or not we should do a -- and the present policy was that Denton would send out a request for bids, and he had a database that he used for all -- anybody that's ever called up Santee Cooper and made any inquiry about property, they got included on the database.  And he was just going to use that existing database and broadcast this request for proposals or bids.

And it was the discussion of the Property Committee that perhaps we should use a little bit more of a sophisticated approach at selling this four-and-a-half million dollar piece of property.  And then we -- I'm not sure where -- how that meeting ended, and Ms. Coombs' notes, they don't draw any conclusions, either.  But it says -- and then after the meeting -- actually, it talks about that Property Committee on March 21st.  And then on July 26th, evidently, during a break while we were eating dinner at Wampee, we didn't have a chance meeting there; it was basically a recess to go eat lunch.  And we all happened to be -- and Mr. Carter says I wasn't there.  He doesn't remember me being a part of this conversation.

It simply said, do you want us to hold up on sending out this flier?  And if I was there, I would have said yes.  And that didn't change the policy, it just put a hold on it.  Because at a meeting after that, we did change the policy.  So I don't believe that we changed policy.  And it was not a chance meeting, it was a recess.  And I think it would be unreasonable to, you know, to make all of the directors, you know, go sit at their own table.  I mean, it would not be unlikely for the press to be eating lunch with us.

Q.    It was the timing?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    The change, the holdup on the sending out of the bid list by the land management group came after.  It had already been sent out, I believe.

A.    Well, actually, it was sent out -- is it -- it says sealed bids are sent out that day by Denton Lindsey.  So he didn't get the word.

Q.    So he didn't get the word.  And then in leading up to -- and he is a very concerned individual.  I understand some directors want to get him fired.

A.    Well --

Q.    And that was in his opinion.

A.    You know, Denton is a fine fellow and I think he's a good chairman.

Q.    And here's an email.  Management jumped the gun and got us into this mess and need to get us out.  I don't see a man following the procedure, got you into a mess or jumped the gun.  I see a man trying to do a job he's been doing -- he must have been there thirty years.  He was there when I came years ago.  Again, I'm leading up to a mistrust of management.  Now, on this property, I understand the -- and, as usual, you get someone to assess it and determine how much it was worth?  

A.    Uh-huh.

Q.    And do you remember how much that was that was --

A.    Roughly, four-and-a-half million dollars.

Q.    Four-and-a-half million.  And then it went out sealed bids and it came in well over five million, I -- 

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    But the Board was not satisfied with that.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Why was that?

A.    Well, if you -- if you talk about selling real estate, Senator, there's really two different types of buyers.  There's one type of buyer that would be a speculator, and he's just going to take a risk.  And then another type of buyer would be a strategic buyer, and he doesn't take any risk.  He wants to know the boundaries, he wants to know the neighbors, he wants to know the zoning, he wants to know how much of the property is in wetlands, he wants to know -- he wants to have a signed lease in his hand.

So if you take a four-and-a-half million dollar property and you pitch it out there for essentially a speculator, a speculator is not going to pay as much.  A strategic investor, he's got -- when he buys it, he knows exactly what he's going to make on it.  He's going to assume some risk, but he wants to eliminate as much as possible.  And under this process, a speculator -- I mean, a strategic buyer couldn't get the information he needed to make that decision.  He needed due diligence.

We didn't think it was fair to let the property go to a speculator when a more strategic buyer may be out there.  And that's what our intention was, to make it available to somebody who could -- the more information you have, the more you can pay.  And that was the sentiment of the committee.

Q.    Now, you did then go out for another bid and -- 

A.    Well, we were in this quagmire, if you will, and we were getting a lot of pressure and we really looked like we didn't know what we were doing.  And this same person -- and it had been batted about in the papers quite a bit, specifically in Georgetown/Horry County, the same buyer resubmitted another bid and, I think, to be expeditious, we took him up on it.  And it was -- he increased it about 200,000.

Q.    I got some calls from across the country.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    And what is this group doing to up there to management?  Management took a hit on that one.

A.    We all took a hit.

Q.    Yeah.

A.    And I honestly think it was just unfortunate circumstances.

Q.    Yeah.  On this, I have heard all sorts of different opinions that you tried to get 13 million dollars for the state, but because of Central's contract, you may have had to sell, I think one director said 17 million dollars of real estate to get 13 million for the state?

A.    That sounds about right.

Q.    How does that work out?  

A.    The service area, the property in the direct-serve area, Santee Cooper -- I mean, Central didn't have a call on it.  But if we sold any generation assets or transmission assets, they got half of the proceeds.  So when we sold them, it was a mix.  And, I think, ultimately -- I don't know if the 17 million dollar number is accurate, but that sounds about right.

Q.    So that property, you had to share with Central 50/50 or so?

A.    Well, it was in the distribution -- that was a distribution piece.

Q.    Okay.  But whatever it was, half of the money would go -- essentially half.  I don't know what percentage -- 

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    -- would go to Central.  And if it hadn't gone to state, where would the other amount have gone?  It would not --

A.    It was --

Q.    Central got a rate reduction, essentially.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    But the Santee Cooper customers on the basic sale would not share in that --  

A.    If we had applied it to reduce debt, they would have gotten 25 percent out of it.  Ultimately, percent of the sales price would have built it back up.

Q.    It essentially goes to debt reduction.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    And then Central gets another cut on that.

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    So they get two-and-a-half slices.  They get --

A.    That's right.

Q.    -- more than one bite of the apple.  Okay.  We've got some -- and, of course, this one, now, you can't do it.  The payment is to the state.  That's been taken care of.  But I think it's maybe the attitude I'm thinking about.

I have some emails here somewhere that mentions that someone on the Board, I think Mr. Green, wanted to increase the payment to the state up to six percent, from three to six percent.  Do you know what that would have done to your retained earnings?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    And I saw no objection that anybody made that maybe you should go to six percent.  We've taken care of that, thankfully.  But one last item on payment to state, you know, there's many ways to make payments to the state, not to the general fund.  One is through the Department of Commerce.

Shortly after the Board and the Senate, at least, said, you shall not take Santee Cooper money and pay it to the state.  I think that was very obvious.

On December the 9th, 2004, here's a letter to the chairman from Ms. Furst at the Department of Commerce, asked for three million dollars for a project they wanted Santee Cooper to do.  This was a February Board meeting this year.

Director Davis moves to increase this amount to ten million dollars over the four.  The state only wanted four, but this Board member was willing to give him ten.  And he got a second.  Do you know who made that second?

A.    No, sir.

Q.    But it's an interesting attitude that -- 

A.    It wasn't me, was it?

Q.    I don't know.  I hoped you would tell me.  But here is another way that we can tell you, you will only get one percent.  But my concern is that you can pay any amount you want by Ms. Furst just writing a letter that said, I want four million dollars.  And another Board member says, let's make that -- let's increase it two-and-a-half times, and he gets a second.

Do you think that attitude is prevalent on the Santee Cooper Board, that you just give ratepayers' money away like that?

A.    No, sir.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Senator, do you want to include that letter in the record, or no?

SENATOR MESCHER:  Well, I've got it.  I've got one clear one.  This one is -- I'll put it in, in a minute.

BY SENATOR MESCHER:

Q.    I could go on.  I've got hundreds of emails that bothers me a lot, but I think it's been covered.  I don't share your philosophy on Santee Cooper.  Hardly -- I think everything we've talked about that we're on opposite ends of the teeter totter.  And you have that right and I can't hold that against you.  But, anyway, I am very disappointed at what this group of five, only five, I've never got an email on anything except the group of five, and they've been called all sorts of names.  But this five, I think, has done irreparable damage to Santee Cooper.  It's going to take years, in my opinion, to overcome the employee morale and the reputation that Santee Cooper has gotten over the state.  And I don't -- well, you know my feelings.  That's all, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Thank you.  Senator Elliott, any questions?

SENATOR ELLIOTT:  Yes, sir.

EXAMINATION BY SENATOR ELLIOTT:

Q.    Greetings, Mr. DuBose.

A.    Mr. Elliott, Senator.

Q.    Let me very briefly just revisit that land sale, briefly.  Mr. DuBose, would it not make sense, looking back in retrospect, that any income from the sale of that land should have accrued to the benefit of Santee Cooper's consumers rather than giving a tax decrease to the state of South Carolina?

A.    I would -- I can't give you a short answer to that, but I guess in retrospect, we felt like we were doing the right thing.  And given those same circumstances, we'd do it again.

Q.    In a sense, what that would do is give a rate increase to your customer base and give a decrease to state tax payers, because you happened to bail out the state, as I've heard mentioned on several occasions.

Let me move into another area, briefly, with you, if you would, please.  It appears that the Board has been separated and divided along some kind of philosophical grounds; would you not agree with that assessment?

A.    On a very few issues.  Not on any issue that would significantly impact the operation, the generation of energy.  On our core issues, I would say the Board is aligned.  On the periphery, we're -- we have different positions, yes, sir.

Q.    In your opinion, would that difference of opinion or division among the Board members, could that be related to your misinterpretation among various members of the real mission of Santee Cooper?

A.    Well, Senator, I just think it's just a difference of opinion of what that mission is.

Q.    Let me ask you, Mr. DuBose, you've been on the Board now for --

A.    Two years.

Q.    Two years.  From your experience so far, when the crunch comes, would your allegiance be more to the Governor that appointed you, would it be to the consumers, or would it be to Santee Cooper in your decision-making?

A.    Santee Cooper.

Q.    Thank you.  And in the event that a conflict might develop in the future between the Santee Cooper Board and the Governor on any matter, would it be the Governor's sheet of music you read from or would it be your conscious, individual sheet of music as a member of that Board operating in the best interest of Santee Cooper?

A.    The latter.

Q.    When you were asked to serve, were you asked to serve for the full term, and did you commit to serve for the full term?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Do you know, from your own knowledge, of any other Board member that has been asked to serve for less than a full term, unless it was a complete and unexpired term?

A.    I don't have direct knowledge.  I have indirect knowledge that one of the Board members was going to serve a portion of a term, and then another Board member -- and then somebody else was going to come and serve.  But I didn't -- that really wasn't any of my business.

Q.    But there have been discussions, maybe among the Board members, of members that have been asked to serve by the Governor for less than a full term, if a full term happened to be open at the time?

A.    Yes, sir.  That's what one of the Board members said to me, but the Governor didn't.

Q.    Let me ask you, Mr. DuBose, what would be your decision if, in fact, this Governor or a future Governor asked you to step aside without cause?

A.    That's a -- it would depend on the circumstances, Senator.  If the Governor wanted me to step aside so that he could get -- so he could accomplish something, that I was in his way and I felt it was a cornerstone issue, I would not step aside.  But if he asked me to step aside just because he didn't like the way I combed my hair, I would just step aside.  I mean, if he asked me for an insignificant reason, I would certainly step aside.  But if it were a matter of what I felt of great consequence, I would not.

Q.    In other words, then, you feel very strongly that once a Governor appoints a member to the Board, you or any other member, and that member is confirmed by the Senate then, unless it's health reasons or for cause, that member should -- or personal reasons, that member should then serve his term?

A.    I'm not sure I understand.  I certainly, under the new legislation, think that's the case.

Q.    Let me ask you, Mr. DuBose, there has been some discussion about various members of the Board, not necessarily you, having been in contact with bond rating companies in New York.  Are you aware of any of those contacts, in any way directly or maybe indirectly involved in those, any discussions leading up to any contact with the bond rating bureaus?

A.    No, sir.

Q.    By now, Mr. DuBose, I'm sure that you're aware that between monthly meetings, the company will spend some, what, one hundred million dollars?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    So, obviously, a fruit basket turnover with a new group of neophytes would probably not be in the best interest of that agency, from your experience; would you not agree with that?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Now, all of these questions, Mr. DuBose, lead us to the point that, why this Senate is really in assembly here.  It deals with the removal of members, for whatever reason, without cause, putting on new members that have no experience in a business of this magnitude and this importance to South Carolina, and it has created the passage of this Senate legislation and this General Assembly legislation dealing with Santee Cooper.  Are you aware that because of some of the activities and the Board appointments over the last four years, starting with the previous Governor, that we're here today because of those activities?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Let me again revisit, just briefly, Jocassee Gorge.  Is that the way you pronounce that word?

A.    Jocassee.

Q.    Jocassee Gorge.  Thank you.  Jocassee Gorge up in Pickens County?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    That was paid some ten million dollars out of the State Treasury; are you aware of that, sir?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Then if that property were to be sold, then to whose benefit should it accrue to, the assets?

A.    The state.

Q.    The state has an investment in that property; does it not?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    A hundred percent investment.  In like vein, then, the assets of Santee Cooper, paid for solely without one dime of state tax dollars, paid for and generated through the operations of the Board and its consumer base over the years, then would it not bear to reason that any assets generated by that company should accrue to the Santee Cooper base?

A.    Well, I would say that South Carolina taxpayers possibly have foregone some tax on earnings that Santee Cooper has enjoyed.  And I'd also say that Santee Cooper has no investment in Duke Power or -- I'm sorry.  What did I say?  I would say that I've not made an investment, or the average person in South Carolina has not made an investment in SCANA, and when SCANA sells property, they pay tax on it and their assets are on a tax roll.  So there is a -- but not for that, I don't think you can ignore it.

Q.    As it relates to the tax matter that you've discussed, Mr. DuBose, the assessment of the level of taxes is one matter, but the use and the sale and accruing the assets is quite another matter; would you not agree?  If there's a problem with Santee Cooper not making enough tax contribution, and that's a battle that we should fight between the Budget Control board and the General Assembly of Santee Cooper; would you not agree?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    As a comparison, there's other businesses in this state that enjoy certain tax reductions in comparison to other similar businesses in this state.  They have been given special tax credits; have they not?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Those are businesses in the private sector.  So why should Santee Cooper, then, be singled out because they enjoy a tax rate that's somewhat different from Duke stock companies?  Could you explain your views on that?

A.    That's a good question.  I would say that it's a big target, and I would draw attention to it.

Q.    Wouldn't some of the other industries that we've given major tax credits to of various sorts, including local property tax breaks, as well as the job creation credits over the years, wouldn't some of those large enterprises also attract a lot of attention if they were put under a microscope? They're creating jobs, as well.

A.    Well, it would -- if I were in charge, Senator, I would try to make our tax policy more fair.  Not that it -- and it's -- I just can't put a spotlight on any one group or one tax, but I do not think that the tax policy is as fair as it could be.  And I'm not really qualified to debate you on that.

Q.    Let me just pass out -- I'm not -- let me use a personal illustration.  I, certainly, don't regret one dime that we've paid for the property up in Pickens County.  That was an investment that I feel the state should have made for future generations.  And that cost me, at least, indirectly or maybe directly, some tax dollars; would you not agree?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    And so, then, in offset, if my electric bill in North Myrtle Beach is a little bit lower because of the efficiency of Santee Cooper, then would you not be happy that I could enjoy that benefit of your wisdom in the past performance of Santee Cooper?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    You wouldn't hold that against me, would you?

A.    No, sir.

Q.    So these things have to balance out.  And I'm inclined to agree with you, that our tax policies across the board, may need an in-depth review, and I don't deny that.  Mr. DuBose, I want to thank you for being as responsive as you could to my questions, and I apologize to my voice being on the verge of not being here with us this afternoon.  But thank you for your responses.

A.    Thank you.

REEXAMINATION BY CHAIRMAN RANKIN:

Q.    Thank you, Mr. Dubose.  I'm mindful, sitting here and not having to answer these questions, how difficult this must be, realizing that you are giving your time, you're getting paid, though, for it.  Unlike some Boards and Commissions, you are being paid, somewhat.

It's not something you'll put in your retirement portfolio and brag about, probably.  But I am mindful of the contribution that you and others are making by being here.  And, also, as we are just about to close, not that we are trying to nit pick or micro-manage ourselves.  But unlike Dr. Molnar, who sat here before, who is blessed without having are cord, whose only focus of inquiry was kind of philosophical and where are you headed.  Fortunately or unfortunately for you, we see where you've been.  And the concern, frankly, amongst some is that you have been a part of this super minority that has not directly, but indirectly, blessed what has gone on without invoking good common sense.

You have said to Senator Mescher that there are things that you regret, and that being one of them, that you didn't rein them in more.  And you're not an attorney and maybe that's not what you said.  Let me ask you, am I misstating that?

A.    No.  I wouldn't -- I should have said, you know, that you guys are pushing it too hard, you need to lighten up.  And I should have said, you know, let's don't broadcast this in email, and let's not get so exercised about some issues that don't really command so much attention.

Q.    Well, there are a couple of things that you've talked about that I want to go back to.  But I do want to generally speak to point that your answer last week, that to the degree that John Rainey's view and yours, you were directing it at Mr. Couick, your sense that things are not right at Santee Cooper.  You took strong exception to that and you said that is not so; is that correct?

A.    That's correct.

Q.    As you've echoed the sentiments of Mr. Coen and Green, apparently, in your email when you said that you don't want -- that you, too, take exception to this.  And I think it was the Gypsum deal where things should have been handled by management differently.

I want to join Senator Mescher in telling you that -- as well as John Rainey, that there is something wrong when we are contacted by employees of, that when we read things in the newspaper about downgrading of the credit outlook, that there is something wrong.  And that when your biggest customer has such concern, some Board members would say that it's an unhealthy relationship that the co-ops have with certain senators.

But when you've got your customers and your employees who you heard in Georgetown, the guy that said he felt like he might have a target painted on his back, you commended him for getting up and having the moxie to speak up.  Are they all wrong, or are we wrong to believe that maybe something isn't right and that maybe this exercise and this passage of S-573 has been a good thing for them?

A.    Well, I think, it's unfortunate that one or two people can make comments that can be -- that were never intended for public consumption, to be dragged into the spotlight and to attach a certain hysteria to it by folks whose intentions are good.  I don't think anybody acted to do anything other than preserve their position.  I think if -- I think it's insignificant to -- had these comments not gone public and had they not been sensationalized, I don't think any of this would have happened, because none of it was of any consequence.

Now, in a comment that I made, you know, I was concerned that I -- that when they did report this that we didn't get the information.  So I don't apologize for that comment.  But it's easy to take some of these things out of context and it's -- and if you don't know the personalities, it's easy to take what they are espousing and make a bigger deal out of it than it really is.

So I don't want to tell you that I don't think it's -- I wish it hadn't happened, or I wish that the methodology had been different.  But I don't think Santee Cooper would have suffered had this process not taken place.  I do think Santee Cooper suffered, but I don't think -- well, I just think it's is unfortunate and I don't -- I think there is a reining in that should have taken place, but the fact that it didn't take place shouldn't have brought all of this attention about.

Q.    Contact with the financial community, Wall Street, about potential impacts on the legislation.  You're not agreeing with that in the context that we have and the emails reflect it as being.  You don't take exception to that or you do -- 

A.    Well, you know, you asked me that question last week.

Q.    And we agree on a number of items that you would not agree with.

A.    Right.

Q.    That you, as a vice-chairman or a chairman, if you're successful, you will not, given what we know now and given the -- 

A.    I would try and avoid -- 

Q.    You would try and avoid and you would proactively prevent from happening?

A.    Yes, sir.

Q.    Okay.  The contribution subject -- and, again, I hate to keep plowing this field -- but your answer to the question of the motion to grant the Department of Commerce three million dollars that was made apparently by another Board member that was seconded, or someone wanted to raise that three million to ten million dollars, do you know whether you supported that?

A.    I don't -- I think we voted to give them $25,000.

Q.    Okay.  That request, as compared to the Moncks Corner Girl Scouts asking for a hundred dollars, you've answered earlier that if it's for economic development, that you would support it.  That would be an economic development, that wouldn't be just a contribution; is that fair?

A.    I think that the state of South Carolina certainly is a constituent of Santee Cooper's, you know, and that would be a -- everybody -- hopefully, all would benefit.

Q.    You've heard the style of question asked during the first week and repeated by me today to Dr. Molnar.  You have been on the Board.  You have been a voice.  You sometimes have been a quiet voice, sometimes you've been a loud voice.  But today, you get to voice the message of what you, Dial DuBose, has for the next bit of service.  And is this the remainder of a term or for seven years?

A.    Seven years.

Q.    All right.  For seven years, you've got a voice now.  Who is it that you want to speak to first in the world of Santee Cooper, and what do you want to tell them about what you want to do for the next seven years?

A.    Well, I think, I would go to those constituencies that -- I would keep coming back to our bondholders.  I'd try to mend that fence.  I'd try to -- I think the employees, I think that there's some healing that needs to take place with them.  You know, and selfishly, I'd like to, you know, correct what's been said and I may be -- you know, if you had a judge and jury, I think that they would find that I did not act improperly, that I did not have a private meeting, and that, you know, my reputation -- I'd like to clear my reputation up a little bit because I've been -- and if this would happen -- if I were making these accusations about you, I think you would be a little uncomfortable and would want to set the record straight.

But I'd like to set that record straight that I didn't have illegal meetings.  But I would just go about the business of Santee Cooper and I would support our executive staff and let the chips fall where they may.

Q.    Has this been an opportunity for you to vet your frustrations or -- and I asked you the other day if you've been treated fair by this committee -- 

A.    I have.  Other than some, just some accusations that have been made in the past, I think I've been treated fairly.

Q.    You came to Litchfield and you invoked the name of Dwight Odom.

A.    Holder.

Q.    Holder.  We misspelled it, my apologies.  We transcribed the minutes there and that was picked incorrectly.  He's passed on, I believe?

A.    Yes, he has.

Q.    You've told us that his admonition to you and whether to take or not take this job was -- as you said, his parting words were, "Don't screw it up."  You've got seven more years to go hereafter, assuming a successful confirmation.  What do you learn to put into practice the charge that he gave you from where you've been the last two years?

A.    Well, the landscape has certainly changed with legislation, and I didn't think anybody's intentions were ever to act outside of those -- the previous landscape and I don't think we'll act to circumvent the current landscape.  But I would hope that Chairman, former Chairman Holder would approve of the way I acted and the way I will act in the future, because I don't think I'm going to screw it up.

Q.    You answered Senator Mescher's questions or, I think, maybe Senator Elliott's, about the one-time money to the state.  Given the right scenario, the right facts, you would vote the same way again.  Did I mishear that?

A.    No.  You heard me right.

Q.    Last week, you gave me a real clear scenario in which you would tell the Governor, no, there is no additional money to give to the state, absent raising the rates on the direct-serve customers.  That was a clear example where you would tell him no.  What is a scenario that allows for another one-time contribution to the state that would allow you to do the same thing again?  Can you imagine one?

A.    Not -- I wouldn't say that there isn't one, but I just don't know what it is.  But there could be one.  But that would be illegal now and I certainly wouldn't break the law.

Q.    All right.  I asked you in the confirmation en masse two years ago, I think almost to the day -- maybe two more days, it'll be actually a two-year anniversary -- as I ask everybody and as you heard me ask Dr. Molnar, aside from S-573 and the law now that you say you're going to abide by, is there any scenario in which you see yourself supporting the sale of Santee Cooper?

A.    Yes.  I know I would -- but let me qualify that.  But I can give you a for instance which I don't think will ever come to pass.  But if Santee Cooper were in dire financial shape and if it didn't look like they were going to be able to pull themselves out of it, and a purchaser appeared on the scene that was going to pay a premium for it and it was going to relieve the bondholders of a -- of forcing us in bankruptcy, I mean, there could be any number of issues that could take place where Santee Cooper would want to have somebody come in and take them out.

So to say never, that situation will never arise, you can't say that.  Because there is a -- there will be -- well, I won't say there will be.  There could be a situation where it would be in the best interest of everybody to sell Santee Cooper.  So to say that'll never happen would be a mistake.  Never is a long time.

Q.    During the next seven years --

A.    I can't imagine it.

Q.    Would you have failed in your role as a Board member if the strength of Santee Cooper's financial picture deteriorated to that degree?  Would you consider that a personal failure as a Board member?

A.    Without a doubt.

Q.    I don't think there are any questions -- I want to, again, thank you.  Your voice hereafter, again depending on what we do as a subcommittee and as a full committee, I think you now have been screened thoroughly as compared to two years ago.  You mentioned that when you sat down a couple of weeks ago.  This is a very important role that you take.  You've got folks in this audience that have been here -- I think, the co-op brothers in the back have been at every meeting.  The Governor's staff, I've just met today.  Obviously, the Santee Cooper folks have been here.

A lot of people are watching what you're doing and what we're doing, and I think we're all on the same page of trying to advance, as you mentioned in Litchfield, the preamble of Santee Cooper.  And that's to recognize that it's the leading resource on improving the quality of life to people in South Carolina.  And I know you take that role seriously and I hope that, as others have before you, you will put to good use what you've heard here and what you've learned here and continue to do as Commissioner Holder, Chairman Holder told you long ago.  God speed to you.

A.    Thank you.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  And with that, we will -- 

SENATOR MESCHER:  Mr. Chairman?  One comment, not on Mr. DuBose.  Mr. Molnar made a comment that CEO Lonnie Carter directed him not to come to Board meetings.  And I thought that odd that a president of a company would tell a prospective Board member not to come to Board meetings.

I called Mr. Carter.  He said that he was only passing on to Mr. Molnar, directions from the Governor's Office.  The Governor did not want him -- the Governor's Office did not want him to attend meetings.  Mr. Carter invited him to come as a citizen.  He could not sit at the table or eat lunch at Wampee or any of those things, but Mr. Molnar declined.

I just wanted to get that on the record that the president of Santee Cooper did not tell a prospective Board member not to come to a meeting.  And I asked Mr. Carter if he ever remembered any other Board member that didn't, as soon as he was nominated, take a seat and he could not remember any since he's been there.  This one is a special case.

CHAIRMAN RANKIN:  Very well.  Thank you.  All right, folks.  We will reconvene subject to the call.  Thank you.

Adjourned at 4:50 p.m.)
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